

Gender gap in pensions in the EU Research note to the Latvian Presidency





This research note has been drafted by the European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) whose role is to provide research and data that will support the Latvian Presidency in their preparation of Council Conclusions. This research note was developed by Ilze Burkevica, Anne Laure Humbert, Nicole Oetke and Merle Paats.

The European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) is an autonomous body of the European Union, established to contribute to and strengthen the promotion of gender equality, including gender mainstreaming in all EU policies and the resulting national policies, and the fight against discrimination based on sex, as well as to raise EU citizens' awareness on gender equality.

More information can be found on EIGE website (http://www.eige.europa.eu).

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union.

Freephone number (*): 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

 EN (print)
 MH-04-15-087-EN-C
 ISBN: 978-92-9218-644-9
 doi: 10.2839/177051

 EN (web)
 MH-04-15-087-EN-N
 ISBN: 978-92-9218-643-2
 doi: 10.2839/221006

© European Institute for Gender Equality, 2015 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Gedimino pr. 16 LT-01103 Vilnius LITHUANIA

Tel. +370 52157444 E-mail: eige.sec@eige.europa.eu http://www.eige.europa.eu http://www.twitter.com/eurogender http://www.facebook.com/eige.europa.eu http://www.youtube.com/eurogender



Gender gap in pensions in the EU Research note to the Latvian Presidency

Research note (1)

Ilze Burkevica, Anne Laure Humbert, Nicole Oetke, Merle Paats European Institute for Gender Equality

⁽¹⁾ This research note has been drafted by the European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE), whose role is to provide research and data that will support the Latvian Presidency in their preparation of Council Conclusions.



Fair income opportunities for women and men:

reducing the gender gap in pensions

Inequalities in access to economic resources in old age are immense, and women pensioners face higher risks of poverty in old age as compared to men despite the fact that prohibition of differential treatment entitles women and men to equal conditions in respect to old-age pensions. (European Commission, 2013a; Frericks and Maier, 2008; Ginn, 2004). Assessing gender inequalities in pensions and addressing them is crucial, as women constitute the majority of the ageing population due to their higher life expectancy. Furthermore, the consideration of the gender gap in pensions constitutes a logical extension of concerns with wage inequalities. Nevertheless, the gender gap in pensions has only recently gained the attention of academia and policy-makers (Adami, Gough and Theophilopoulou, 2013; European Commission, 2013a; Folbre, Shaw and Stark, 2005).

The gender gap in pensions throughout the European Union (EU) is considerable. In 2012, the gender gap in pensions amounted to 38% in the EU on average (²). Notwithstanding the fact that the difference between pensions varies from country to country — from 5% in Estonia to 45% in Germany — the tendency for men to receive higher pensions than women is observed in all Member States.

Specifically in the light of the current economic crisis — which revealed issues with the sustainability and reliability of the EU Member States' pension systems and the role of social protection systems and their ability to decrease poverty and social exclusion in time of an economic downturn — addressing the gender gap in pensions is highly relevant. Policy responses, focusing on the individualisation and privatisation of pensions, have diverging impacts on women and men. The often gender blind policies are likely to have a considerable negative impact on women's pensions and consequently their economic independence in old age (Foster, 2014; Frericks and Maier, 2008).

The gender gap in pensions was examined for the first time in-depth in a report published by the European Commission in 2013 (³). This report demonstrates the importance of pensions as a determinant of economic independence. However, it also outlines significant structural gender differences that contribute to the gender gap in pensions, including labour market participation, distribution of working hours (in particular part-time work) and the gender pay gap. While the Commission's report did not establish a causal link between structural inequalities and the gender gap in pensions — due to the 'cohort effect' (⁴) and diverse structures and patterns across Member States — it emphasises the importance of reducing current gender inequalities to eliminate future inequalities (European Commission, 2013, p. 82).

⁽²⁾ Based on EIGE's calculation using micro data from Eurostat, EU-SILC. See methodological note in Annex II.

⁽³⁾ European Commission (2013a), The gender gaps in pensions in the EU. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/justice/gender-equality/files/ documents/130530_pensions_en.pdf

⁽⁴⁾ The 'cohort effect': 'what is observed to hold for today's older population 65+ may not hold when they are replenished by those who today are in their forties' (European Commission, 2013, p. 82).

The gender gap in pensions can be understood as the sum of gender inequalities over a lifetime, including differences in the lifecourse (motherhood penalty), segregated labour market and gendered social norms and stereotypes more generally. Therefore, it is important not only to illustrate this equation, but also to consider how the gender gap in pensions relates to wider gender inequalities in society. This research note aims to develop some of these aspects by providing an overview of current EU policy and subsequently the current state of play in relation to pensions through the EU Member States. It then contextualises the gender gap in pensions in the context of the core domains of the Gender Equality Index and describes current inequalities in relation to economic independence. It concludes by discussing how to challenge current gender inequalities to work towards the eradication of the gender gap in pensions in the future.





Contents

EU Policy and the gender gap in pensions	7
Old age pensions represent a significant share of expenditure for Member States	7
The gender gap in pensions in relation to gender equality	
Work	11
Money	12
Knowledge	13
Time	13
Power	15
Health	15
Violence against women	
Gender norms, attitudes and stereotypes	
Intersecting inequalities	
Current state of play: gender and pensions	19
Women receive lower pensions in all Member States	19
Pensions beneficiaries: large differences between the proportion of women and men in receipt of an old age pension across the EU	
The age at which individuals receive an old-age pension varies across the EU, with women receiving at a younger age in some Member States	
Motivations for transitions from work to retirement are complex	
Individuals are much more at risk of poverty after the age of 65	
Transforming gender relations and gender roles to eliminate the gender gap in pensions	
Conclusion	35
Annex I — Data	
Annex II — Methodology	
Annex III — Summary of pension systems in Member States	
Bibliography	67

EU policy and the gender gap in pensions





EU policy and the gender gap in pensions

The EC defines pensions systems as 'systems [that] allow people to enjoy a well-deserved retirement after their working life', highlighting that they represent an important source of income for a large proportion of the ageing population 'and provide good protection against poverty to the majority of older Europeans' (European Commission, 2014b).

However, the structure of pension systems is complex and varies across Member States, due to different regulatory frameworks, making comparative work challenging. A summary of pension systems is presented in Annex III.

Old age pensions represent a significant share of expenditure for Member States

Old age pensions represent a significant proportion of social protection expenditure in all EU Member States, adding up to 39% of total social protection expenditure. This ranges from 20% in Ireland to 54% in Latvia in 2012 (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Percentage spent on old age pensions as a percentage of total social protection expenditure (social benefits, administration cost and other expenditure), EU-28, 2012 +

Source: Eurostat, (spr_exp_sum).

Despite the significant proportion of public expenditure it represents, it is not possible to obtain sex-disaggregated information from official statistical institutions such as Eurostat.

The European Commission has developed a White Paper entitled 'An agenda for adequate, safe and sustainable pensions' (COM(2012) 55 final) which tackles different policy areas and proposes to continue to monitor the adequacy, sustainability and safety of pensions (European Commission, 2012b).

However, inequalities remain largely untackled as gender differences are not fully taken into account. In the context of the demographic shifts taking place in the EU — not least population ageing — it is important to not only focus on the sustainability of the provision of social protection, but also on its fairness and representativeness of the population as a whole.

Another important policy process takes place within the European Semester, in which respective Annual Growth Surveys have played a significant role in setting out economic priorities. Reforming the pension system has a central place in this process, as part of an action aiming at mobilising labour markets and creating job opportunities. This includes ensuring the effectiveness, adequacy and sustainability of pension systems, including aligning the retirement age with increasing life expectancy, restricting access to early retirement schemes, supporting longer working lives, equalising the pensionable age between men and women and supporting the development of complementary private savings to enhance retirement incomes. In parallel, the emphasis is placed on reforming healthcare systems in line with increasing age-related expenditure (Annual Growth Surveys, 2011-2015) (European Commission, 2014c).

The gender gap in pensions in relation to gender equality





The gender gap in pensions in relation to gender equality

The gender gap in pensions is the result of cumulative inequalities women face over their lifecourses (Frericks and Majer, 2008) and in various economic, social or cultural domains. To examine this further, the gender gap in pensions is analysed in conjunction with the six thematic dimensions of the Gender Equality Index developed by EIGE in 2013 (EIGE, 2013). The Gender Equality Index constitutes a relevant basis for this assessment, as it conceptually maps the main areas of the EU policy framework in relation to gender equality. As it is based on a reference population, incorporating all, or most, of the entire population across age groups, it is unsuitable to use it for an analysis of current pensions. Nevertheless, it is essential to think about the ways in which current inequalities as emphasised by the Gender Equality Index will impact the pension entitlements and pension provisions for the current population in the future.

Work

Welfare systems define specific norms on which benefits and social support are based. Pension benefit systems are commonly based on full-time, lifelong labour market participation and as such perpetuate the norm of the male breadwinner (Frericks and Maier, 2008; Frericks, Maier, and de Graaf, 2007b). More specifically, pensions were initially designed with male workers in mind, whereas women were seen as indirect beneficiaries, whose claims to pensions and old age financial security were derived from their marital status (Forster, 2010, p. 568). While lifecourses, as well as family formations have changed significantly, pension systems are often still based on lifelong full-time employment. Participation in and access to the labour market is therefore crucial in being able to obtain benefits (Frericks and Maier, 2008; Johnson, Sambamoorthi and Crystal, 1999). However, as is shown in the Gender Equality Index, inequalities in the domain of work are persistent, with a score of 69 out of 100 for 2010. Women participate less in the labour market and work fewer hours and years, as compared to men, which limits their pension benefits (European Commission, 2013a). Moreover, while women's labour market participation has increased, women are more likely to work part-time, which is associated with lower wages and lower chances for career advancement (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b; EIGE, 2013; EIGE, 2014). In 2012 in the EU-28, the employment rate for men stood at 70% compared with 59% for women. However, looking at employment rate in full-time equivalent (FTE) terms shows that women are overall much less likely to participate in the labour force. The FTE employment rate for men in 2012 was of 67% (down 3 percentage points from the headcount employment rate) while for women it was 50% (down 9 percentage points) (EIGE, 2014). This relates closely to the insufficient childcare services (Foster, 2014), which is likely to be a major contributor to the gender gap in pensions. Childcare and other care activities can in fact act as a constraint particularly where childcare is too expensive, of insufficient quality, not suitable or not available. This particularly affects women, as evidenced by the fact that in 2012 in the EU-28, the share of part-time work due to personal and family responsibility was 44% for women, whereas for men it represents only 11% (EIGE, 2014). The extent to which this can be construed as involuntary parttime work is unclear.

However, increases in women's labour market participation alone will not suffice to address the gender gap in pensions. As the norms on which benefit calculations are based do not account for periods of care work or for instabilities in the labour market. such as rising unemployment rates, current pension systems will not only negatively impact women's pension benefits, but also men's, with periods of unemployment becoming more frequent for all workers (Frericks and Maier, 2008). Pension systems as a whole are at stake, as '[h]igher unemployment, lower growth, increasing national debt and financial market volatility are making it harder for all systems to deliver pension promises', especially during the current crisis (Foster, 2014, p. 566). The German system, for instance, required 45 years of labour market participation for full pension entitlement, which less than half of German men (47%) and only 7.5% of German women had reached in 2007 (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b). Moreover, as the Gender Equality Index shows, sectoral segregation is persistent. Women are over-represented in sectors and professions associated with lower wages, which also relates to the general under-valuation of female labour, both of which have been identified as contributing to the gender gap in pensions (Frericks and Maier, 2008).

Money

Women's access to financial and economic resources remains lower than men's, with a score of 68.9 out of 100 in the domain of money for 2010. Overall,

women earn less than men on average due to their different position in the labour market, increasing women's risk of poverty (EIGE, 2014). The higher risk of poverty women face in general is translated into the gender gap in pensions. Comparing average earnings of women without children and men to the earnings of mothers, research has identified a 'motherhood penalty' on mothers' average wages and incomes, with mothers earning less than their equally qualified childless counterparts (Sigle-Rushton and Waldfogel, 2007; Gangl and Ziefle, 2009). In conducting a laboratory and audit study, Correll, Benard and Paik (2007) found that motherhood is penalised on a number of measures, such as competence and starting salary and mothers were discriminated against when applying for jobs in comparison to men and nonmothers. On the contrary, fatherhood appeared to have a positive influence on assumptions about men's competence and job prospects. In their quantitative assessment of the motherhood penalty in wages in 22 countries, including 14 EU countries, Budig, Misra and Böckmann (2010) found that the intensity of the motherhood penalty in wages varies considerably across countries. Further, their study shows that cultural attitudes and social policy concerning mothers' employment significantly impact the pay gap faced by mothers. Their study suggests that 'cultural support for maternal employment, and sentiment that maternal employment is not detrimental to child well-being, are strongly associated with smaller motherhood penalties' (p. 25). Cultural attitudes appear to be of particular importance, as negative attitudes towards women's employment can mitigate or even negate the positive influence of parental leave policies and the availability of childcare provision on the motherhood wage gap (Budig, Misra and Böckmann, 2010).

Moreover, with women having less access to financial resources, they are also less likely to be able to invest in private pension schemes in the process of pension privatisation (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007a), which matters greatly in the context of policy changes in national pension systems before and



as a reaction to the economic crisis. With many systems pursuing private pension schemes as an alternative to state provided pensions, women are likely to be negatively affected (Foster, 2014; Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b). As Foster (2014) finds, '[p]rivate pensions tend to reproduce (or even amplify) market-income inequalities', whereas public pensions allow governments to account for injustices, at least to a certain extent (p. 574). In addition to the lack of compensatory schemes in private pensions, long contribution periods and earnings related returns from private pension schemes negatively impact specifically on women and low paid workers (Ginn, 2004; Frericks and Maier, 2008), as mothers are more likely to follow non-standard employment patterns and, similarly to low paid workers, their income progression is lower than men's. Moreover, as private pensions plans are often investment and return-based, they involve a higher risk for all workers, due to potential losses (Foster, 2014; Ginn, 2004).

This is an important issue in relation to caring responsibilities. For example, in her assessment of changes in the British pension systems, favouring the privatisation of pensions, Ginn (2003) finds that women receiving a lower income, while having raised a family, are likely to be unable to invest in private pensions, which increases their likelihood to fall below the poverty line. (Ginn, 2003, p. 23).

In sum, it is important to consider how the pension system relies on participation in employment (often assuming continuous and full-time employment) but also the role that state budget and employer can play in making contributions during periods of care to tackle gender inequalities in pensions.

Knowledge

While women are more likely to pursue tertiary education, they remain under-represented in subjects associated with higher income. Overall, the EU-27 obtained a score of 48.9 out of 100 for the domain of knowledge in 2010. The under-valuation of professions and subjects associated with women and gender segregation within tertiary education in general also add to the gender gap in pensions (Rögnvaldsdóttir and Pétursdóttir, 2012; Frericks and Maier, 2008). While women on average outnumber men in tertiary education as students (55%) and graduates (59%), they remain to be under-represented in certain disciplines, such as engineering and among PhD graduates (46%) in 2010 (European Commission, 2013c). Moreover, it has been found that women's association with care work can lead to their exclusion from training programmes, as employers may choose not to invest in them (Frericks and Maier, 2008) at least in some countries. The European Working Condition Survey, developed by the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, shows an uneven pattern throughout the EU-27 in 2010. Overall, 33% of women and 34% of men, in employment or self-employment, have undergone training paid for or provided by their employer. If the difference is small on average, it varies greatly across Member States. Women were much more likely to have received such training at work in Latvia (36% of women and 22% of men) or Estonia (42% of women and 31% of men), however the opposite was true in Spain (27% of women and 34% of men) or Portugal (24% of women and 32% of men).

Time

One of the most important and influential domains in relation to gender equality in general and the gender gap in pensions, more specifically, is time. Out of all six thematic domains, time has the second lowest score with 38.8 out of 100 points in 2010. Women are still predominately responsible for care and domestic work (Gangl and Ziefle, 2009; EIGE, 2013), which tremendously impacts their ability to build up full pensions (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b). Firstly, due to women's association with unpaid work and the lack of childcare and caring provisions, they are often forced to work part-time, in order to accommodate their caring responsibilities (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b). As a result, they are not able to fit in to the norm set by pension systems, defined on the basis of the masculine norm of full-time, life-long employment. Women's over-representation in part-time work is additionally related to their higher likelihood to be employed under precarious conditions with fewer benefits. Women depend on publicly provided care services in order to be able to participate in the labour market and are more likely to exit the labour market, due to caring responsibilities. They are disproportionately affected by cuts in social spending during the crisis, affecting the provision of caring services and thus their ability to enter the workforce (Foster, 2014).

Overall, care work is not sufficiently accounted for, despite the fact that its economic contribution is considerable (Himmelweit, 2007). In the UK for instance, the economic contribution made by unpaid work has been estimated to constitute 42% of GDP in 1997 (Ginn, 2003). While some Member States, such as France and Germany, have made attempts to account for time spent caring in the form of care credits, these still have severe limitations in practice. Care credits often do not account for a sufficient amount or period of time to substitute for labour market participation and can also discourage labour market participation in the first years of childcare and part-time work in consecutive years (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b), as the reception of care credits is based on a withdrawal from paid work and not a reduction in hours.

Compensatory schemes are usually only related to public pension entitlements and do not apply to private pensions schemes, which is one aspect limiting the effectiveness of care credits, since most pension systems rely on both public and private schemes (Frericks and Maier, 2008). Furthermore, while care credits can compensate for a set period of unpaid care, 'they do not account for wage penalties associated with time out of employment', such as the motherhood wage penalty (Foster and Walker, 2013, p. 5). Compensatory schemes also do not account for the negative impact of career interruptions on future employment prospect and women's higher likelihood to be unable to move from part-time work to full-time work over the lifecourse (EIGE, 2014). Thus, while care credits can certainly have a positive impact on the gender gap in pensions, it is important to address gender inequalities in employment and the distribution of unpaid work.

While other authors have argued, that means-tested benefits or minimum pension guarantees might be detrimental to women's incentive to work and hinder their emancipation (Sundén, 2010), accounting for periods of care work and providing minimum pensions as a safety net is an essential step towards valuing unpaid work and protecting all workers. Adequate support for childrearing can have a positive effect on workers decision to raise the next generation of taxpayers and workers, which is crucial to maintain the generational contract in times of falling birth rates and, as such, can be seen as a collective responsibility (Frericks, Knijn and Maier, 2009).

The lifecourses of workers are becoming more variable. When referring to gendered lifecourses, gender refers to socially constructed ideas and identities. As such it is crucial to view gender in 'the limited but important sense of the distribution of paid and unpaid work roles over the lifecourse', hence unlinking it from sex, but viewing it as 'representing a spectrum of lifecourse patterns rather than a dichotomy' (Ginn, 2003, p. 84). Thus it is important to move away from basing pensions thoroughly on earnings-related benefits.

The lack of full-time childcare facilities further diminishes women's ability to return to work. The risk of old age poverty women face when leaving work to raise children has been associated with declining fertility rates and with the decrease in the old-age dependency ratio, which in turn further endangers sufficient pensions for EU citizens (Ginn, 2003; Fornero and Monticone, 2010). Additionally, caring responsibilities constitute one of the main reasons for women to move into part-time work and that



their abilities to return to full-time employment are limited (EIGE, 2014). This can have considerably negative consequences for their old-age pensions, as some part-time positions in countries like the UK to not offer pension schemes (Ginn, 2003).

At EU level, the Barcelona Objectives have been set to increase the provision of childcare and boost the employment rate in line with the Europe 2020 objective of 75% employment. It consists of two targets: 33% of children under the age of three to be covered by childcare provision; and 90% of those between 3 years and compulsory school age (European Commission, 2013b). By 2012, the EU-28 overall failed to meet these targets, with only 28% of children below the age of 3 covered by childcare and 83% of those aged between 3 and compulsory school age (see Annex I for data disaggregated by Member States). However, while an increase in childcare provisions certainly has positive implications for women's ability to work and increase their pensions, the effectiveness of policy provisions strongly depends on the cultural context in which they are implemented (Budig, Misra and Böckmann, 2010).

Power

Gender equality in the domain of power, similar to time, receives a considerably low score in the Gender Equality Index, with a core of 38 out of 100 for 2010. The domain of power measures women's representation in political and economic decision-making. Women's under-representation in high paying positions means their access to private pension schemes is lower than men's on average (Foster, 2014). Moreover, following critical mass theory, as developed by Dahlerup (1988), women's under-representation in political decision-making can negatively impact pension reforms, as women's perspectives and experiences are not sufficiently represented. However, women do not constitute a homogenous group and their numerical representation does not necessarily lead to change. Critical mass theory has been critiqued for its deterministic language and results from quantitative

studies testing whether women's increased representation leads to women's interests being represented are ambiguous (Childs, 2001; Paxton, Kunovich and Hughes, 2007; Childs and Krook, 2006). While an increased representation is no guarantee for more gender-sensitive pension policies, some women's lived experiences might positively contribute to the policy-making process in addition to leading to more representative governments.

Health

In contrast to all other domains, the domain of health receives a considerably positive score, with 90.1 out of 100, indicating that gender inequalities relating to health are guite small for the overall adult population. However, particularly in relation to retirement and old age, women's higher life expectancy and their fewer healthy life years in relation to their life span should be noted. On average and across age groups women perceive their health to be less good, as opposed to men. Specifically in old age and with their relationally smaller number of healthy life years, women might require more healthcare, which in some instances and with low pensions may be difficult for them to option. Differences between women and men in the number of health life years make this significant. In 2012, women's life expectancy was 83 years compared to just under 78 years for men in the EU-28. However, women and men's expected number of health life years, that is life without moderate or severe health problems, is approximately equal at 62 years. This means that women are healthy for 75% of their lives compared to 79% for men.

Women's longevity has caused them to receive lower pensions for the same contributions as men until recently. While public pension policy has always relied on redistributive systems, which did not reduce women's pension entitlements, due to their longevity, private pension schemes did reduce them. With a recent ruling of the European Court of Justice in 2011 the principle of non-discrimination was extended to private insurances and thus private pension schemes (European Commission, 2013a). Lastly, most active ageing policies are not sufficiently gender sensitive and do not target women, despite the fact that they constitute the majority of the population of retirement age (Foster and Walker, 2013).

Violence against women

The relation between the gender gap in pensions and gender-based violence against women should be noted. Economic independence can be defined as the 'capacity of an individual to lead an independent life and to take decisions for him/herself' (European Commission, 2013a, p. 21). Limited access to pension benefits can put women at risk of poverty and economic dependence on a spouse, which may limit women survivors of violence's ability to leave an abusive relationship (Dalal, 2011; Buzawa and Buzawa, 2013). While women generally have less access to financial resources once they have reached pension age, divorced women are facing the highest risk of poverty, as compared to married, widowed and single women (Ginn, 2010). Older women are therefore at a greater risk of gender-based violence because of the gender gap in pensions: their greater vulnerability to poverty limits the possibility for them to leave a violent situation should they wish to. For instance, a study conducted by Women Against Violence Europe in Austria as part of the PROGESS programme Gender Works finds that older women who are often entirely dependent on their partners economically, 'for the majority of them it is impossible to start an independent life free of violence' (WAVE, 2009, p. 21). As most older women only receive small pensions, depend on social benefits or retrieve their entitlements from their violent spouses, leaving their partners is a direct step towards poverty (WAVE, 2009).

Gender norms, attitudes and stereotypes

Traditional ideas about women's position in society and gendered social norms are reflected in the gender gap in pensions. Perceptions of women as mothers and carers and the related under-valuation of care work, is one example of these norms and has serious consequences for women in general and women in retirement age. The motherhood penalty is one example. Mothers' competences are likely to be under-valued, as well as their dedication to their work (Correll et al., 2007) and motherhood gap are found to be higher in countries where cultural attitudes are unfavourable of employed mothers and beliefs about the negative impact of working mothers on children are held (Budig, 2010). Moreover, cultural attitudes and stereotypes can be reinforced by or reflected for instance in tax systems. The German context has been described as highly gendered, with women being commonly connected to family, maternity and nurture, which is reflected in the taxation system that supports the male-breadwinner model (Geissel, 2013), by offering tax exemptions for the breadwinning salary and thus encourages women's part-time employment. This can be seen as reflective of Germany's gender pay gap of 23% and the considerable gender gap in pensions of 45% in 2012 (European Commission, 2014d; Geissel, 2013). Other taxation systems, such as the French model, offer tax exemptions for temporary interruptions of employment for mothers to take care of their children (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007), thus reinforcing ideas of mothers as carers. Assessing and addressing the influence of gender stereotypes, for instance regarding the gender pay gap or the motherhood penalty, is therefore crucial.

Intersecting inequalities

Intersecting factors, such as migration or age, can reinforce the gender gap in pensions. Overall, gender inequality scores are lower for older workers (EIGE, 2013) and specifically older migrant workers face an increased risk of poverty (AGE+ Project, 2005). The situation of the ageing migrant population is important to consider, as migration of workers contributes significantly to population growth in the EU and helps address the consequences for the pensions systems due to demographic change (AGE+ Project, 2005). Older migrant women in particular face significant inequalities in terms of access



to pensions. If pension systems, for instance, are residency-based, migrant women may not have been able to build up sufficient years (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007). Likewise, as they are often migrating to countries as dependents, they may face legal difficulties in accessing the labour market. Migrant women are often employed in low paying sectors and the informal economy (AGE+ Project, 2005). The gender gap in pensions fails to consider migrant women's position, as data are lacking and their issues remain invisible (AGE+ Project, 2005). Research from the United Kingdom suggests, that ethnicity, as well as social class negatively impacts on a person's access to pensions, suggesting that workers from lower occupational classes are more dependent on a sufficient state pension (Ginn, 2003). One could argue that this holds true for other disadvantaged groups, such as the disabled population as well, specifically where pension benefits are based on lifelong labour force participation.

To summarise, the gender gap in pensions is related to earnings and pension contributions caused by different patterns of participation of women and men in the labour force, often because of caring reasons and gender role expectations. The lack of childcare and other care provision, or their lack of affordability or quality, contributes greatly to the gender gap in pensions. The structure of the pension systems can increase these differences in some Member States. Women's educational level is mirrored by increased participation in the labour market and in decision-making positions. As new gender roles are being played out, and women get access to positions that allow them to influence systems, opportunities arise to tackle the gender gap in pensions. It is not only a matter of fairness, but also of dignity, both because they live longer often in poorer health and because they are more at risk of violence.

Current state of play: gender and pensions





Current state of play: gender and pensions

This section examines the current state of play in terms of pensions in the EU, through an analysis of comparable and harmonised data at EU level and across the Member States (⁵). The section provides an overview of the gender gap in pensions overall and by age, who receives pensions, the main reasons given for making the transition (or not) into retirement for persons in receipt of a pension, and finally how much income this represents both in terms of public expenditure but also at the individual level. Where possible, data is presented disaggregated by sex and analysed from a gender perspective.

Women receive lower pensions in all Member States

At EU level, there has been little change in the gender gap in pensions between 2010 and 2012, with a slight decrease from 39% in the EU-27 to 38% (see Annex II for methodological notes on its calculation). This is driven by a slightly larger increase in pension levels among women (up by 6%) compared with men (up by 5%) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: gender gap in pensions, EU-28, 2010 and 2012

Source:2012 — ElGE's calculation based on EU-SILC micro data;
2010 — European Commission (2013a), CY and IE data for 2009.Note:Data for HR and EU-28 for 2010 are not available.

⁽⁵⁾ The measurement structure for pensions within the EU statistical system (Eurostat) provides a broad overview of the main categories and different provisions. Cash benefits fall under the category of 'pensions', which includes cash benefits measured under seven distinct categories; disability pension, early-retirement due to reduced capacity to work, old-age pension, and early-retirement benefit for labour market reasons, respectively.

The gender gap in pensions among the population in receipt of a pension and aged 65 years or more has reduced in approximately half of the Member States between 2009 and 2010 and 2012, by as much as 11 percentage points in Greece and Denmark. In Denmark, it is the consequence of a large increase in pensions for women (up by 17%) coupled with a marginal increase for men (3%). In Greece, pension income for women went up by 7% while at the same time pension income decreased by 8% for men.

The gender gap in pensions has widened in Austria (5 p.p.) and Latvia (8 p.p.). In both cases, this can largely be attributed to a significant growth in pension income for men (up by 8% in Austria and by 13% in Latvia) while pension income for women remains marginally the same (no change in Austria and up by 3% in Latvia). Table 1 presents the gender gap in pensions and monthly pension income in 2012 and 2010 in EU Member States.

		2012		2010			
	gender gap in pensions	Women monthly pensions	Men monthly pensions	gender gap in pensions	Women monthly pensions	Men monthly pensions	
Belgium	31%	1 209	1 754	29%	1 147	1 622	
Bulgaria	35%	112	171	33%	113	169	
Czech Republic	14%	432	502	13%	375	430	
Denmark	8%	1 962	2 126	19%	1 681	2 070	
Germany	45%	1 035	1 871	44 %	1 016	1 804	
Estonia	5%	316	332	4%	308	322	
Ireland	37%	1 171	1 859	35%	1 216	1 869	
Greece	25 %	712	953	36%	667	1 037	
Spain	34%	831	1 255	34%	774	1 168	
France	36%	1 263	1 970	39%	1 205	1 960	
Croatia	25%	305	405	:	:	:	
Italy	33%	1 126	1 669	31%	1 082	1 565	
Cyprus	37%	897	1 425	39%	692	1 1 3 4	
Latvia	17%	254	305	9%	246	271	
Lithuania	12%	240	271	15%	257	304	
Luxembourg	45%	2 207	4 017	47%	2 004	3 751	
Hungary	15%	314	371	15%	289	340	
Malta	18%	627	761	21%	597	757	
Netherlands	42%	1 356	2 329	40%	1 323	2 220	
Austria	39%	1 530	2 498	34%	1 535	2 319	
Poland	25%	358	474	23%	311	403	
Portugal	31%	606	880	33%	512	766	
Romania	31%	148	214	32%	135	197	
Slovenia	24%	673	890	29%	624	874	
Slovakia	8%	390	422	8%	353	383	
Finland	27%	1 356	1 849	25%	1 305	1 738	

Table 1: gender gap in pensions and mean monthly pension (EUR) in the EU Member States



		2012		2010			
	gender gap in pensions	Women monthly pensions	Men monthly pensions	gender gap in pensions	Women monthly pensions	Men monthly pensions	
Sweden	30%	1 509	2 146	33%	1 270	1 881	
United Kingdom	40%	1 004	1 662	43 %	858	1 501	
EU-28	38%	933	1 513	:	:	:	
EU-27	38%	939	1 522	39%	886	1 447	

Source: 2012 — EIGE's calculation based on EU-SILC micro data; 2010 — European Commission (2013a), CY and IE data for 2009.

Note: ":" indicates data were not available.

To understand how the gender gap in pensions applied to different each groups, it was calculated for different age groups. These measures inform on the progress, or otherwise, for different cohorts of pensioners when it comes to the gender gap in pensions.

At EU level, the gender gap in pensions is similar for all age groups, hovering around 38%. However, the situation for some Member States is very different, with some showing signs of progress (a lower gender gap in pensions among the younger cohort) and others showing deterioration (Figure 3). The situation worsens significantly for those aged 65 to 69 years compared with those aged 75 years or over in the Netherlands (52% GGP compared with 28%) and Cyprus (43% GGP compared with 22%). An improvement was noted among the younger age group, including Slovenia where the gender gap in pensions stands at 16% for those aged 65 to 69 years, compared to 31% for those 75 years and over.



Figure 3: Difference in the GGP between those aged 65 to 69 and those aged 75 and over

Source: EIGE's calculation based on EU-SILC micro data, 2012

Changes in the gender gap in pensions can be related to a variety of reasons whereby women's and men's income can increase, stay the same or decrease within different age categories. This is important to assess, because progress can be measured as the result of a decreasing gender gap combined with increasing income from pensions for both women and men. The following table presents the Member States that have seen progress or deterioration, broken down by de(in)creases in income levels from pensions for both women and men by age cohorts.

Table 2: gender gap in pensions and women's and men's income from pensions in the Memb	er
States, 2012	

		Women's income from	Men's income from pensions	
		pensions		
Smaller GGP for	EL	Increase for younger cohort	Increase for younger cohort	
younger cohort	FR, HR	Increase for younger cohort	Approximately the same	
	SI	Increase for younger cohort	Decrease for younger cohort	
	DE, EE, LT	Decrease for younger cohort	Decrease for younger cohort	
Little or no	BG, CZ, DK, HU, RO,			
change in GGP	FI, SE, UK			
Larger GGP for	IE, CY, ES, LV, PT	Increase for younger cohort	Increase for younger cohort	
younger cohort	LU, NL	Decrease for younger cohort	Increase for younger cohort	
	BE, IT, AT, SK	Approximately the same	Increase for younger cohort	
	PL	Decrease for younger cohort	Approximately the same	
	MT	Decrease for younger cohort	Decrease for younger cohort	

Source: EIGE's calculation based on EU-SILC micro data, 2012.

Pensions beneficiaries: large differences between the proportion of women and men in receipt of an old age pension across the EU

In the EU, in 2012, between 11% (CY,) and 25% (BG) of the population received an old age pension (this includes early retirement benefit due to reduced capacity to work; old-age pension itself; and anticipated old-age pension) showing that the societal context of Member States differs greatly. In Spain, Ireland, Cyprus, or Malta , for example, 10% or less

of women received an old age pension. A greater proportion of women were in receipt of an old age pension in Bulgaria, Czech Republic and Estonia (all 28%), as well as in Latvia (29%) and Lithuania (30%). Differences across Member States for men are less pronounced, ranging from 14% in receipt of an old age pension in Ireland or Slovakia, to 24% in France, Italy and Slovenia, and jumping to 28% in Luxembourg. These differences are important because of the role that pensions play in preventing poverty (Figure 4).







Source: Eurostat (spr_pns_ben).

These data reflect the structure of the population in relation to pension provision for all individuals. The data are to a large extent a reflection of the demographic, cultural, societal and historical background of each country, in addition to the different regulatory frameworks they have adopted.

For this reason it is important to also consider figures that focus more specifically on individuals that are about or close to making the transition to retirement from work. Among individuals aged between 50 and 69, who were either currently working at the time of the survey (LFS) or did some work after the age of 50, 42% on average in 2012 received a pension (44% of women compared with 41% of men).

Across Member States, there are many differences in the proportion of population aged between 50 and 69 that receive a pension, ranging from 27% in Belgium to 53% in Slovakia. For women, the proportion ranges from 24% in Ireland to 61% in the Czech Republic (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Proportion of population aged between 50 and 69 that receive a pension by sex, EU-28, 2011

Source: Eurostat (Ifso_12pension)

In the majority of Member States (BG, CZ, DK, DE, EE, EL, HR, LV, LT, HU, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK, FI, SE, UK), women aged 50 to 69 form a larger proportion of those receiving a pension compared to men. Although this may allow them to reduce their involvement in the labour market after the age of 50, it is also important to consider the amounts these pensions amount to, since earlier access to lower pension can represent a challenge for future economic independence and lead to a risk of poverty. Often unable to reach full-pension entitlements, women may be more likely to receive social security pension benefits than men (Frericks and Maier, 2008).

The age at which individuals receive an old-age pension varies across the EU, with women receiving at a younger age in some Member States

The age at which a person first receives an old-age pension is an important factor to examine — particularly from a gender perspective — as there can be some important differences between women and men in some Member States. In 2012, the average age at which a person first received an old age pension was just above 59 years of age, with only a small gap between women (58.8 years) and men (59.4 years) (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Age at which the person first received an old-age pension (years) by sex, EU-28, 2012

Source: Eurostat (Ifso_12agepens).

In Sweden, the retirement age for both women and men is the highest compared to the rest of the EU Member States with an average age of 63.6 years for both women and men when first in receipt of an old age pension. There are strong differences across the EU, as the average age can be much lower in some Member States, particularly for women. Women in Slovenia are on average 55 years old, in Croatia and Romania they are on average 56 years old, while in Sweden women are on average 64 years old. For men it varies from 58 years in Italy to 64 years in Sweden. If gender differences are small or nonexistent across Member States, the age at which women receive a pension is lower by over two years in Estonia, Hungary, Poland and Romania; three years in the Czech Republic, Slovenia and Slovakia; and more than four years in Croatia. Explanations for women's earlier entry into retirement could be women's fewer healthy life years in relation to their overall lifespan, caring responsibilities or the lack of employment opportunities available to them (AGE+, 2005; Frericks, Maier, and de Graaf, 2007b).



Motivations for transitions from work to retirement are complex

Transitions between work and retirement are the results of different motivations, which are themselves highly gendered. It is possible to distinguish between two different types of motivations: pull and push factors. Pull factors can be understood as reasons that drive individuals to remain in work, either intrinsically (e.g. personal satisfaction) or extrinsically (e.g. providing greater income). Push factors are those that contribute to driving individuals out of work such as care responsibilities or ill-health.

Pull factors

At EU level, the main reason in 2012 for individuals aged 50 to 69 to continue working while in receipt of a pension was to provide a sufficient personal or household income (37%), with no significant difference between full and part-timers (Table 3). As the

data are not disaggregated by sex, it is not possible to examine gender differences. Other than financial reasons, work satisfaction was the motivation for nearly one in three (29%) individuals. This motivation was particularly salient among those choosing to remain in work on a part-time basis.

Indeed, staying in work to establish or increase future pension entitlements, possibly in conjunction with providing a sufficient personal or household income, is a more recurrent motivational factor when working on a full-time than a part-time basis. In total, 15% of persons in receipt of a pension were motivated by establishing or increasing future retirement pension entitlements in addition to providing sufficient personal or household income (11% for those working part-time and 18% for those working full-time). In addition, establishing or increasing future retirement pension entitlements on their own was a motivation for 7% of individuals (5% on a part-time basis and 9% full-time).

Table 3: Main reason for persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension to continue working by reason and working time (%), EU-28, 2012

		Total	Part-time work	Full-time work
	To provide sufficient personal/household income	37	36	38
Extrinsic reasons	To establish/increase future retirement pension entitlements and to provide sufficient personal/household income	15	11	18
	To establish or increase future retirement pension entitlements	7	5	9
Intrinsic reasons	Non-financial reasons, e.g. work satisfaction	29	35	23
No answer	·	12	13	12

Source: lfso_12staywork.

The issue of ensuring sufficient income in the present or in the future showed wide discrepancies. For example, continuing to work while in receipt of a pension is identified as a motivational factor by only 14% of people aged 50 to 69 in Sweden while the corresponding figure for Romania is 91%. Similarly, only 9% of those aged 50 to 69 in Germany continue to work while in receipt of a pension to establish or increase future retirement pension entitlements together with providing sufficient personal or household income, as opposed to 32% in Lithuania. Establishing or increasing future entitlements is less prominent as a motivation, but can nevertheless differ from 4% in the United Kingdom to 19% in Spain. Motivations for non-financial reasons also vary significantly across Member States. Only 10% of persons aged 50 to 69 in receipt of a pension in Hungary cite this as a motivation compared with

79% in Denmark (for further details on reasons for persons who receive a pension to continue working see Annex I, Table 6).

Push factors

Examining data at EU level on the push factors that motivate persons aged 50 to 69 in receipt of a pension to make the transition to economic inactivity shows that the main reason given is reaching eligibility for a pension (37%), followed by health or disability (21%), both of which are similar for women and men (Table 4). However, among other reasons, gender differences emerge following stereotypical gender roles. Men are more likely to cite favourable arrangements to leave (9%) than women (5%), whereas women are more likely to mention family or care-related reasons (6%) as opposed to men (2%).

······································			
	Total	Women	Men
Had reached eligibility for a pension	37.0	37.6	36.5
Own health or disability	21.0	20.2	21.6
Had reached the maximum retirement age	9.8	10.3	9.2
Lost job and/or could not find a job	7.5	7.4	7.6
Favourable financial arrangements to leave	7.2	5.3	9.1
Other job-related reasons	4.0	3.6	4.5
Family or care-related reasons	3.9	6.2	1.8
Other reasons	5.3	5.5	5.0
No answer	4.3	3.9	4.7

Table 4: Main reason for economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension to quit working in the EU-28 by sex (%), 2012

Source: Eurostat (lfso_12reasnot).

At EU level, reaching eligibility for a pension is the most often cited reason with no apparent gender gap (Figure 7). At the Member State level, there are important differences both in how prevalent this motivation is, and also in differences between women and men. For example, only 13% of economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who

receive a pension identify reaching eligibility for a pension in Estonia compared to 87% in Malta. In Austria and Slovakia, this motivation is higher for women by 14 and 16 percentage points respectively. Conversely, it is higher for men in France (7 p.p.), the Netherlands (8 p.p.), Luxembourg (19 p.p.) and Italy (24 p.p.).





Figure 7: Percentage of economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension and who identify reaching the eligibility for a pension as the main reason to quit working by sex, EU-28, 2012

Source: Eurostat (Ifso_12reasnot).

Note: data for men in EE is unreliable and have been omitted.

Health or disability as a motivation for quitting work among economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension ranges from 6% in Greece to 38% in Estonia (Figure 8). In many Member States, there are significant gender gaps. For example, in Estonia, Croatia, Lithuania, Austria, Poland and Slovakia, the difference is higher for men by over 10 percentage points. In Sweden and in Luxembourg it is higher for women by 11 and 18 percentage points respectively.





Source: Eurostat (lfso_12reasnot).

Note: data for MT and for women in SI is unreliable and has been omitted.

In 2012, the percentage of economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension and who identified favourable financial arrangements to leave as the main motivation was as low as 2% for women in Italy, Romania, Slovakia and Finland; and 3% for men in Finland and Romania. On the contrary, this percentage reached 18% for women and 34% for men both in the Netherlands (Figure 9). In the majority of Member States, men are more likely than women to cite financial arrangements

as a motivational factor. In Ireland, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom the gender gap extends to over 5 percentage points, and in the Netherlands stands at 16 percentage points. This reflects men's higher likelihood to have built up full pension entitlements, as opposed to women. Conversely, men are more likely to gain financially when retiring, as compared to women, who often lack full pension entitlement (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007).

Figure 9: Percentage of economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension and who identify favourable financial arrangements as the main reason to quit working by sex, EU Member States, 2012



Source: Eurostat (lfso_12reasnot).

Note: data for BG, CZ, EE, EL, HR, CY, LV, LT, LU, HU, SI are unreliable and have been omitted.

Family or care-related reasons to quit working among economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension are not prevalent across the Member States. Only 1 % of men cite this reason in Spain and 5 % in Denmark and the United Kingdom (Figure 10). In comparison, women are least

likely to cite this reason in the Czech Republic (1%) but it is widespread in Cyprus (19%). It is systematically higher as a motivational factor for women in all the Member States for which data are available; the difference between men and women varying from 3 p.p. in Denmark to 9 p.p. in Ireland.





Figure 10: Percentage of economically inactive persons aged 50 to 69 who receive a pension and who identify family or care-related reasons as the main reason to quit working by sex, EU-28, 2012

Source: Eurostat (Ifso_12reasnot).

Note: data for BG, EE, HR, LV, LT, LU, MT, SI and data for men in CZ, DE, EL, FR, CY, HU, NL, AT, PL, PT, SK, FI are unreliable and have been omitted.

The data on these two last motivational factors provide a powerful illustration of stereotypical gender roles across Member States and how those translate into different outcomes within the labour market. It thus clearly demonstrates the relevance of gender in relation to the gender gap in pensions.

Individuals are much more at risk of poverty after the age of 65

Pensions have a recognised role in preventing poverty. It is therefore important to consider age and gender in relation to poverty, as inequalities in pensions are potential strong contributors to these differences. The gender gap is low for the entire population, but widens significantly as individuals get older. The gender gap can be explained by women's lower lifetime earnings and smaller or interrupted social security contributions during pregnancy, due to caring responsibilities or greater propensity to work part-time. Indeed, in 2013 the risk of poverty before social transfers (including pensions) ⁽⁶⁾ changed from an estimated 50% for those aged 55 to 64 years to 88% for those aged 65 years of more (compared to 46% for the population 16 years and over) (Table 5).

Being at risk of poverty is therefore not only dependent on age, but also varies greatly between women and men. Women aged 55 to 64 years are more exposed to poverty (55% at risk of poverty before social transfers) compared to 44% of men, representing a 11 percentage points difference. However, although the risk is higher for those aged 65 years and over, the difference narrows very significantly: 89% of women aged over 65 are at risk of poverty compared with 87% of men (2 p.p.).

⁽⁶⁾ The at-risk-of-poverty rate before social transfers is calculated as the share of people having an equivalised disposable income before social transfers that is below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold calculated after social transfers. Pensions, such as old-age and survivors' (widows' and widowers') benefits, are counted as income (before social transfers) and not as social transfers. This indicator examines the hypothetical non-existence of social transfers. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/statistics_explained/ index.php/Category:Living_conditions_glossary

	16 years or over		From 55 to 64 years			65 years or over			
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
EU-28	46	43	49	50	44	55	88	87	89

Table 5: At-risk-of-poverty rate before social transfers (pensions included in social transfers) by poverty threshold, age and sex, 2013

Source: Eurostat, EU-SILC (ilc_li09).

It is likely that ill-health and disability play a major role in the extent to which older people face poverty risks. When it comes to reasons for unmet medical examination needs, the cost ('too expensive') differentiates women from men as 3% of women compared to 2% of men gave this answer in 2012, although this represents a small difference. These figures are largely comparable to the situation of 2007 (EIGE, 2015a).

Among those aged 55 to 64, having some or severe activity limitations greatly increases the risk of poverty. For men, this means a difference of 23 percentage points (from 37% to 60%) and for women 17 percentage points (from 49% to 66%). This increase is less severe among those aged 65 years

or more, possibly as a result of more prevalent illhealth, and particularly inexistent among women. In this age group, poverty risk increases by six percentage points for men (from 84% to 90%) and by one percentage point for women (88% to 89%), on average. Women and men face a similar risk of poverty at the intersection of (older) age and ill-health or disability.

Once pensions and status of retirement are taken into consideration, the at-risk-of-poverty rate drops down substantially to 11% for men pensioners over the age of 65 and 15% for women in 2013 (Figure 11), indicating that with the receipt of pension benefits, women are more likely to face poverty, due to their lower entitlements.





Source: Eurostat, EU-SILC (ilc_pns6).

Note: For Croatia and Ireland data were not available.



Nevertheless, the at-risk-of-poverty rate for pensioners still shows that more than one in ten pensioners are at risk of poverty in the EU on average. In certain Member States (BG, EE, LV, LT, SI, SE) women were more at risk of poverty, with differences above the 10 percentage point mark. Women were more at-risk-of-poverty than men in most Member States with the exception of Belgium (1 p.p.), Spain (4 p.p.) and Malta (7 p.p.). The difference between women and men at-risk-of-poverty was lower than EU average in eight countries (BE, EL, FR, IT, LU, HU, NL, PT).

Transforming gender relations and gender roles to eliminate the gender gap in pensions

Pension benefits in the EU are based on gainful employment over the lifecourse. Specifically in recent years reforms have linked old-age pensions to longer periods of gainful employment. As women's lifecourses often involve periods of unpaid care work, they are facing a disadvantage. Increasing women's labour market participation has been identified as a valuable solution to reduce women's risk of old age poverty, caused by insufficient pension benefits (Zaidi, Gasior and Zólyomi, 2010). However, while improvements in women's labour market participation, as well as in the other policy areas, reflected in the domains of the Gender Equality Index will certainly contribute to shrinking the gender gap in pensions, they will not trigger its disappearance. Frericks and Maier (2008) argue that this is due to remaining 'structural shortcomings and gender distinctions in welfare arrangements and labour markets' and that 'the marketization of care cannot be fully achieved' (p. 255). The latter point is closely linked to the interpersonal nature of care that distinguishes it from other activities that can be commodified (Himmelweit, 2007; Heyes, 2005). Therefore, as long as pensions are based on a male breadwinner lifecourse model of lifelong full-time employment, the gender gap in pensions is likely to stay, as these policies are unfit to address the underlying structural issues within welfare state systems and labour markets, as well as in society as a whole. Rögnvaldsdóttir and Pétursdóttir (2012) state that '[a]dequate basic pension, elimination of labour market gender discrimination, and males taking greater responsibility for care- and housework, are some of the key issues that need to be addressed' (p. 469). Moreover, other policies need to be assessed from a gender perspective in order to avoid long-term consequences for women's pensions, for instance tax systems or childcare provision. The cuts in social spending in general as a consequence of the economic crisis and childcare provisions more specifically, disproportionally impacted on women's employment and pension prospects. This will likely influence women's future pensions (Foster, 2014).

Pension reforms that are not sufficiently gender sensitive and the privatisation of pensions can significantly hamper women's access to economic resources in old age (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b). Gender blind policies, such as the current shift towards private pensions can amplify inequalities, as men are more likely to be financially capable to invest in private pensions, as opposed to women, due to higher wages and lesser involvement and participation in childcare. Therefore, pension reforms should be approached from a gender perspective and should account for both women's and men's lived experiences and lifecourses. Further, it is important to note that labour market structures are changing and the ideal of full-time employment over the lifecourse is no longer a reality for either men or women (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b). Consequently, the norms and ideals on which pension benefit systems are based need to be changed (Frericks and Maier, 2008). While some EU Member States have made attempts to shift from a system based on full-time employment to one accounting for the variety in lifecourses — such as the Netherlands these lifecourse models often draw on traditional gender roles and labour markets. Required insurance periods, for instance, are often unrealistic for most women and can force them into part-time employment, as other structural issues remain unaddressed (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2006).

Another policy approach, which has been employed by some Member States, is the introduction of care credits (Frericks and Maier, 2008). These usually do not sufficiently account for caring periods and do not address the overarching structural issues, such as insufficient availability of caring facilities or labour market structures discriminating against women and particularly mothers, and persistent gender norms and stereotypes in society overall (Frericks, Maier and de Graaf, 2007b; Sigle-Rushton and Waldfogel, 2007). A transformation of labour markets, pensions, social structures and cultural attitudes, which accounts for both care and paid work and enables both parents to take on caring responsibilities is needed; specifically since care cannot be entirely marketised (Frericks and Maier, 2008; Himmelweit, 2007; Fraser, 1997). Only by addressing overall structural inequalities can the gender gap in pensions be addressed and a sustainable and adequate pension system be developed. Sundén (2010) finds that in order to prevent old-age poverty among women pensions need to be both public and mandatory. Pensions should 'not punish women by giving them a lower rate of return on lifetime contributions than men [and should] not punish child rearing' (p. 74). To further elaborate on this point, a focus on feminine and masculine defined lifecourses and their relation to pension benefits might be valuable in order to develop pension and labour market policies that are transformative and support parenting and childcare. The high financial risk of parenthood (e.g. reduction of hours, childcare, etc.), especially faced by mothers, is associated with low and falling fertility rates. Therefore, addressing pension and labour market policies in a holistic way can contribute positively to the reduction of the gender gap in pay and pensions, and might positively impact on failing fertility rates (Ginn, 2003). Additionally, in order to provide sustainable and accessible pensions for all, policy should ensure that pension provisions are transparent and easy to understand for the entire population (Foster, 2014).

Conclusion




Conclusion

A gender gap in pensions of 38% for 2012 is not only an alarming number for the individuals concerned, it also gains relevance when understood as the sum of gender inequalities over the lifecourse.

The gender gap in pensions can be explained by women's lower lifetime earnings and smaller or interrupted social security contributions, due to caring responsibilities, during pregnancy and greater propensity to work part-time.

Reducing the gender gap in pensions can only be addressed by an assessment of the current situation in relation to pensions distribution and an examination of inequalities between women and men. Establishing a formal link between the two is challenging, not least because they are concerned with different age cohorts. Indeed the pension gap concerns older people (65+ population), but data on inequalities are spread over the lifecourse with different generational effects. Hence, exploring the link between the two is important to reduce the gender gap in pensions in the future.

Pensions play an important role in protecting older people from poverty and ensuring a dignified ageing. The at-risk-of-poverty rate for pensioners still shows that more than one in ten pensioners are at risk of poverty in the EU on average. It is important to understand how the future gender gap in pensions relates to current inequalities and what needs to be done to reduce it in the future. Demographic changes, not least population ageing, mean that the issue of gender equality in pensions is gaining importance. Aligning the retirement age with increasing life expectancy, supporting longer working lives, supporting the development of complementary private savings to enhance retirement incomes and equalising the pensionable age between men and women are some of the necessary measures.

The unequal share of care responsibilities between women and men sustains the gender gap in pensions. Gendered roles need to be addressed, particularly in relation to unequal caring responsibilities since longer working lives can intensify care responsibilities (e.g. childcare followed by care for elderly dependents). Supporting longer working lives cannot be done without significant improvements in support for care activities. Childcare and other care activities can in fact act as a constraint particularly where childcare is too expensive, of insufficient quality, not suitable or not available. This particularly affects women, as evidenced by the fact that in 2012 in the EU-28, the share of part-time work due to personal and family responsibility was 44% for women, whereas for men it represents only 11% (EIGE, 2014). Improving childcare provisions and addressing the unequal share of care and domestic responsibilities between women and men could contribute to significantly decreasing the gender gap in pensions and increase women's ability to acquire pensions on an equal basis.

Stereotypes which underpin the unequal repartition of care activities between women and men and by extension penalise women more generally in the labour market need to be tackled. The magnitude of the gender gap in pensions is the cumulative result of these stereotypes and resulting discrimination over the lifecourse.

Good practices to tackle the gender gap in pensions identify two key areas. First, combatting gender segregation in the labour market by tackling inequalities in labour force participation and working time; developing strong policies encouraging and/ or committing companies and especially public employers to take measures (e.g. through the introduction of quotas, linking public procurement to equality activities or creating incentives and/ or sanctions for companies based on their gender equality efforts or outcomes) to eliminate the gender pay gap and other related work activities; encouraging social partners (particularly trade unions) are recommended to develop a strategy to promote the growth of wages specifically for jobs traditionally associated with women. Secondly, promoting the availability, affordability and guality of (child) care facilities and services is essential. This involves a substantial increase in the number of care facilities and (child) care places and the extension of their opening hours but also other forms of care such as child-minders (EIGE, 2015b). In sum, it is important to consider how the pension system relies on participation in employment (often assuming continuous and full-time employment) but also the role that state budget and employer can play in making contributions during periods of care to tackle gender inequalities in pensions.

Key areas to tackle are the unequal participation of women and men in the labour market, which depends to a high degree on the availability and affordability of well-developed childcare, as well as challenging the stereotypes that lead to segregation patterns in society, the labour market and education.

Tackling gender inequalities thus needs to be part of the wider structural and institutional transformation that is taking place in pension-related policy in developing a sustainable and adequate pension system. This approach should be based on effective gender mainstreaming and address gender inequalities in all domains in order to reduce and facilitate eradication of the gender gap in pensions.



Annex I — Data

Table 1: Proportion o	of the population i	n receipt of an old ag	e pension (%), by sex,	, EU-28, 2011
-----------------------	---------------------	------------------------	------------------------	---------------

	Total	Men	Women
Belgium	16	18	14
Bulgaria	25	21	29
Czech Republic	23	18	28
Denmark	20	18	22
Germany	23	21	25
Estonia	23	17	28
Ireland	11	14	9
Greece	19	22	17
Spain	13	16	10
France	24	23	24
Croatia	15	15	15
Italy	22	24	21
Cyprus	11	15	8
Latvia	24	18	29
Lithuania	24	17	29
Luxembourg	19	28	11
Hungary	21	18	24
Malta	14	20	9
Netherlands	19	17	20
Austria	21	21	21
Poland	17	15	20
Portugal	21	21	21
Romania	20	18	23
Slovenia	24	23	25
Slovakia	19	14	23
Finland	22	19	24
Sweden	22	21	23
United Kingdom	19	19	25

Source: Eurostat, (spr_pns_ben).

					Difference in the GGP be-
	65 and over	65 to 69	70 to 74	75 and over	tween those aged 65 to 69
					and those aged 75 and over
AT	39%	41%	43%	34%	-8%
BE	31%	37%	28%	28%	-9%
BG	35%	35%	36%	34%	-1 %
CY	37%	43%	40%	22%	-21%
CZ	14%	15%	13%	14%	-2%
DE	45 %	39%	45%	46 %	7 %
DK	8%	6%	10%	8%	2%
EE	5%	2%	2%	9%	7 %
EL	25%	21%	25%	27%	5 %
ES	34%	38%	30%	31%	-7%
FI	27%	26%	28%	25%	-1 %
FR	36%	31%	38%	37%	7 %
HR	25%	21%	19%	29%	8%
HU	15%	18%	12%	16%	-2%
IE	37%	38%	45%	29%	-9 %
IT	33%	39%	35%	28%	-11%
LT	12%	10%	9%	17%	7 %
LU	45%	50%	45%	41%	-9%
LV	17%	19%	15%	15%	-4 %
MT	18%	23%	18%	17%	-7%
NL	42%	52%	47%	28%	-23%
PL	25%	28%	25%	23%	-5 %
PT	31%	33%	41%	22%	-11%
RO	31%	30%	30%	31%	1 %
SE	30%	27%	33%	28%	1 %
SI	24%	16%	20%	31%	15%
SK	8%	11%	10%	3%	-7%
UK	40%	39%	42%	39%	0%
EU-28	38%	38%	41%	37%	-1%

Table 2: gender gap in pensions by age groups, EU-28, 2012

Source: EIGE's calculation based on EU-SILC micro data



	65	5+	65 t	o 69	70 t	o 74	75 and	d over
AT	1 530	2 498	1 543	2 627	1 446	2 545	1 573	2 367
BE	1 209	1 754	1 204	1 907	1 261	1 754	1 193	1 652
BG	112	171	112	171	112	174	112	170
CY	897	1 425	1 013	1 791	903	1 510	825	1 063
CZ	432	502	425	503	430	493	438	507
DE	1 035	1 871	973	1 597	994	1 807	1 091	2 035
DK	1 962	2 126	1 974	2 098	1 956	2 179	1 958	2 118
EE	316	332	309	315	322	328	317	348
EL	712	953	861	1 090	741	985	633	862
ES	831	1 255	905	1 453	868	1 245	795	1 145
FI	1 356	1 849	1 450	1 956	1 389	1 936	1 286	1 711
FR	1 263	1 970	1 373	1 980	1 236	2 006	1 222	1 946
HR	305	405	319	407	329	408	284	402
HU	314	371	308	375	313	356	318	377
IE	1 171	1 859	1 241	2 003	1 061	1 914	1 193	1 687
IT	1 126	1 669	1 124	1 838	1 063	1 645	1 147	1 589
LT	240	271	218	242	236	259	252	302
LU	2 207	4 017	2 115	4 269	2 073	3 742	2 362	4 003
LV	254	305	266	329	249	293	251	297
MT	627	761	550	714	628	768	660	790
NL	1 356	2 329	1 268	2 617	1 243	2 366	1 465	2 047
PL	358	474	344	477	338	451	374	486
PT	606	880	630	935	602	1 019	599	769
RO	148	214	160	229	147	210	142	207
SE	1 509	2 146	1 605	2 204	1 556	2 323	1 439	1 999
SI	673	890	715	852	693	870	639	932
SK	390	422	390	437	383	424	394	407
UK	1 004	1 662	953	1 570	1 243	2 366	1 041	1 707
EU-28	933	1 513	931	1 505	901	1 519	949	1 515

Table 3: Mean monthly income from pensions, EU-28, 2012

Source: Eurostat, EU-SILC.

	Total	Men	Women
Belgium	61	61	61
Bulgaria	58	58	57
Czech Republic	59	61	58
Denmark	62	62	62
Germany	61	61	61
Estonia	60	61	59
Ireland	61	61	61
Greece	58	58	58
Spain	62	62	62
France	59	59	59
Croatia	58	60	56
Italy	58	58	58
Cyprus	62	61	62
Latvia	60	61	59
Lithuania	60	61	59
Luxembourg	59	59	59
Hungary	59	60	58
Malta	59	59	59
Netherlands	63	63	63
Austria	59	59	58
Poland	57	59	56
Portugal	60	60	60
Romania	57	58	56
Slovenia	57	58	55
Slovakia	57	60	56
Finland	61	61	62
Sweden	64	64	64
United Kingdom	58	58	59
EU-28	59	59	59

Table 4: Age at which the person first received an old-age pension (years), by sex, EU-28, 2012

Source: Eurostat, (lfso_12agepens).

Table 5: Persons	who ré	eceive a	pension	(%), by s	ex and	age, EU-2	28, 2012								
	From	η 50 to 5	4 years	From	50 to 6	9 years	From	55 to 59	years	From	60 to 64	+ years	From	65 to 69	years
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
Belgium	Ŋ	5	5	37	40	33	16	17	14	61	64	58	96	98	94
Bulgaria	4	9		47	42	52	17	18	15	68	54	80			
Czech Republic	5	5	9	53	44	61	25	13	36	83	69	96	66	66	100
Denmark	m	m	4	38	35	42	7	9	8	54	49	59	95	94	97
Germany	7	Ŋ	∞	40	37	42	17	13	22	52	45	59	98		
Estonia	∞	∞	∞	47	43	50	24	24	23	75	68	80			
Ireland	m	m	£	27	29	24	12	13	12	30	31	30	84	86	82
Greece	6	7	13	46	45	49	29	25	35	63	63	63	92	91	93
Spain	9	5	2	34	37	30	15	15	15	45	48	41	06	95	82
France	7	7	7	46	48	44	20	21	19	76	78	74	97		
Croatia	Ŋ	4	9	47	42	53	28	19	38	70	59	83	97	96	0
Italy	2	2	£	41	42	38	16	18	13	70	70	72	94	95	93
Cyprus	-		2	32	33	30	10	10	8	45	47	43	98		
Latvia	9			45	42	47	16	15	17	76	76	76	•••		
Lithuania	7	8	2	45	40	50	17	15	18	80	68	60			
Luxembourg	9	5	8	44	45	42	28	31	25	73	74	72	97		
Hungary	-		Ļ	39	34	43	7	2	13	67	61	71	97	97	98
Malta				45	46	40	12	13		84	82				
Netherlands	Ś	4	9	29	31	26	11	10	13	31	32	30	06	92	86
Austria	4	4	5	45	42	49	25	18	33	83	74	92	98		
Poland	∞	8	7	47	39	56	30	20	41	81	99	95	97	96	98
Portugal	9	5	2	42	43	41	23	24	22	58	62	53	95	0	92
Romania	9	5	7	52	45	59	34	27	42	80	71	89	96	97	96
Slovenia	7	S	10	51	46	57	39	26	52	87	83	93	97	0	97
Slovakia	8	9	10	49	40	58	27	15	38	86	72	98			
Finland	5	9	5	43	41	44	14	14	15	61	58	63	97	97	96
Sweden	С	2	5	44	43	45	7	5	8	33	31	36	97	97	97
United Kingdom	7	7	9	45	43	47	21	25	17	67	54	80	96	96	97
EU-28	9	5	9	42	41	44	20	18	22	65	60	70	96	96	96
Source: Eurostat, (Ifso	o_12pei	nsion).													

C10C 0C113 -P (70) . . Ċ

Note: ':' indicates data were not available.



	To esta	blish or incre	ase future				To esta	blish/increa	se future			
	re	tirement pen	Ision	To provi	de sufficient	personal/	retiremen	t pension er	ntitlements	Non-fina	incial reasons	, e.g. work
		entitlement	S	or	usehold inco	ome	and to persona	o provide su Il/household	fficient d income		satisfaction	
	Total	Part-time	Full-time	Total	Part-time	Full-time	Total	Part-time	Full-time	Total	Part-time	Full-time
Belgium	12 (u)	: (n)	: (n)	28	27	30 (n)	11 (u)	12 (u)	: (n)	48	51	42
Bulgaria	(n) 6.8	: (C)	10 (u)	53	: (n)	53	25	: (n)	25	13 (u)	: (n)	13 (u)
Czech Republic	7	9	7	54	53	54	21	22	20	19	19	19
Denmark	(n) :	(n) :	: (C)	(n) 6	(n) :	(n) :	(n) 9	: (n)	(n) :	62	84	68
Germany	7	9	: (n)	27	34	14	6	9	12	17	16	17
Estonia	12	: (n)	12 (u)	78	79	78	: (n)	: (C)	: (n)	8 (n)	: (n)	8 (u)
Ireland	5 (n)	: (n)	: (n)	36	33	38	16	13 (u)	19	41	47	37
Greece	(n) :	: (C)	(n) :	86	78 (n)	89	: (n)	: (C)	(n) :	(n):	(n) :	: (C)
Spain	19	14	21	20	24	18	30	24	33	18	39	28
France	(n) 6	: (n)	: (n)	32	37	27	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	24	31	18 (u)
Croatia		•••		59 (n)	54 (u)	75 (u)	: (C)	: (C)		21 (u)	23 (u)	: (C)
Italy	13	6	14	45	49	44	12	8	13	30	34	28
Cyprus	6 (u)	: (C)	: (n)	36	34 (u)	37	30	22 (u)	35	28	40 (u)	21 (u)
Latvia	13 (u)	: (C)	16 (u)	58	56 (u)	59	20	: (n)	17 (u)	9 (n)	: (n)	: (n)
Lithuania	12	: (n)	13 (u)	47	64	42	32	: (n)	37	8 (u)	: (n)	8 (u)
Luxembourg	(n) :	: (n)	: (n)	20 (u)	23 (u)	: (n)	12 (u)	: (n)	: (n)	51	54 (u)	49 (u)
Hungary	6 (u)	: (n)	9 (n)	65	71	60	18	17	20	10	10 (n)	11 (u)
Malta	: (C)	: (C)		47 (u)	: (n)	53 (u)	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	38 (u)	: (n)	: (n)
Netherlands	1 (u)	1 (u)	: (n)	22	21	28	22	19	30	51	55	36
Austria	0 (n)	: (n)	14 (u)	24	24	22 (u)	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	65	67	62
Poland	5	4 (u)	6 (u)	50	51	49	27	23	31	18	22	14
Portugal	9	: (n)	6	59	60	58	10	: (n)	14	25	31	19
Romania	9	6 (u)	5	91	91	91	2 (u)	: (n)	: (n)	2 (u)	: (n)	: (n)
Slovenia	(n) :	: (C)	: (C)	19 (u)	15 (u)	24 (u)	8 (u)	7 (u)	11 (u)	62	67 (u)	57 (u)
Slovakia	10	: (n)	12	63	65	62	21	21 (u)	21	6 (u)	: (n)	5 (u)
Finland	9	9	5 (u)	23	24	21	26	24	30	42	43	41
Sweden	7	5	14	14	14	15	13	13	12	65	67	58
United Kingdom	4	Э	5	33	30	37	21	15	28	41	51	29
EU-28	7	5	6	37	36	38	15	11	18	29	35	23
JU	. (

Table 6: Main reason for persons who receive a pension to continue working (%). age 50-69. EU-28. 2012

Note: ':' indicates data were not available, '(u)' indicates data with low reliability; '(c)' indicates confidential data. Source: Eurostat (Ifso_12staywork).

Table 7: Main re	ason for	econor	nically ina	ctive po	ersons w	'ho receiv	ve a per	nsion to	quit work	(%)	, by sex,	age 50-6	9, EU-3	28, 201	7
	Favo	urable fi	inancial	Lost jo	oh and/o	r could	Had re	ached th	ie maxi-	Had rea	ached e	ligibility	Oth€	er job-r	elated
	arrang	gements	to leave	nd	ot find a j	iob	mum	retireme	ent age	fo	r a pens	ion		reasor	IS
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
Belgium	12	14	6	8	8	7	8	8	8	22	24	21	6	9	9
Bulgaria	(n):	(n) :	: (n)	5	(n) 9	5	(n) :	: (n)	: (n)	80	77	82	(n) :	: (n)	: (n)
Czech Republic	0.2 (u)	0.3 (u)	: (C)	5	5	5				86	85	86	1	1 (u)	0.3 (u)
Denmark	7	8	9	12	13	10	2	3 (n)	: (n)	29	29	28	9	5	7
Germany	7	8	9	7	9	7	5	6	4	13	12	14	2	: (n)	: (n)
Estonia	(n):	(n) :	: (n)	27	27	28	5 (u)	: (n)	5 (u)	13	12 (u)	14	7	: (n)	8 (u)
Ireland	17	19	13	9	9	7	16	18	14	19	19	18	5	9	3 (u)
Greece	1	1 (n) 1	1 (u)	1	1 (u)	1 (u)	28	31	25	61	59	63	1	1 (u)	1 (u)
Spain	11	13	7	8	8	8	16	16	15	19	20	18	7	8	5
France	7	6	9	10	6	12	11	11	10	49	52	45	3	3 (u)	3 (n)
Croatia	7 (u)	(n) 9	7 (u)	12	11 (u)	12 (u)	6 (u)	7 (u)	5 (u)	38	33	42	5 (u)	5 (u)	5 (u)
Italy	4	5	2	7	7	7	15	9	30	41	50	27	8	8	9
Cyprus	5	(n) 9	: (n)	7	7	7 (u)	34	39	27	24	24	23	2 (u)	: (n)	: (n)
Latvia	10	13 (u)	6	21	20	21	7	(n) :	8 (u)	22	22	22	œ	(n)	7 (u)
Lithuania	2 (u)		(n) :	6	10 (n)	6	45	39	49	18	18	17	3 (n)	: (n)	: (n)
Luxembourg	5	5 (n)	: (n)	2 (u)	2 (u)	: (n)	6	10	7 (n)	50	57	38	2 (n)	2 (u)	: (n)
Hungary	1	(n) :	1 (u)	5	5	5	5	9	5	66	64	67	2	2	1
Malta							: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	87	87	85	: (C)	: (C)	
Netherlands	28	34	18	8	7	8	5	5	5	16	19	11	7	9	9
Austria	9	8	4	9	5	7	: (n)	: (n)	: (C)	53	46	60	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)
Poland	4	4	4	9	9	6	8	7	8	58	53	61	2	2 (u)	2
Portugal	4	4	5	6	10	8	16	17	16	14	15	12	9	7	4
Romania	2	3	2	7	7	9	12	11	12	38	36	40	4	4	4
Slovenia	(n):	: (C)	: (C)	2 (u)	2 (u)	2 (u)	1 (n)	: (n)	1 (u)	84	81	87	1 (n)	1 (n)	2 (u)
Slovakia	С	5	2	11	14	9	15	12	16	43	34	49	7	10	9
Finland	С	Э	2	16	17	15	Э	4	3	34	31	37	5	9	4
Sweden	13	16	10	5	7	2	17	18	16	19	19	20	7	7	9
United Kingdom	17	22	13	8	10	9	7	7	7	20	18	22	9	9	9
EU-28	7	6	5	8	8	7	10	6	10	37	37	38	4	5	4
Source: Eurostat (Ifsc	2_12reasi	not).													



43

Note: '' indicates data were not available, '(u)' indicates data with low reliability; '(c)' indicates confidential data.

Table 8: Main reason for economically inactive persons who receive a pension to quit working (%), by sex, age 50-69, EU-28, 2012 (cont.)

44

	Own h€	ealth or di	sability	Family	or care-re	elated	ot	her reaso	ns		lo answer	
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
Belgium	17	16	18	4	m	7	2	2 (u)	(n) :	19	17	21
Bulgaria	10	13	6	2 (u)	(n) :	2 (u)	(n) :	(n) :	(n) :			
Czech Republic	7	6	9	-	: (C)	-	-	1 (u)	1 (u)	0.2 (u)	0.2 (u)	0.1 (u)
Denmark	32	31	32	9	5	7	7	7	7			
Germany	31	32	29	С	(n) :	9	8	7	8	26	27	24
Estonia	38	46	33	7	(n) :	(n) 6	(n) :	: (C)	(n) :		•••	
Ireland	23	22	23	7	4	13	8	9	10	(n):	:(n)	: (C)
Greece	9	9	5	Ļ	1 (u)	2	1	1 (u)	2	1 (u)	(n):	1 (u)
Spain	29	28	31	3	1	7	7	5	10	1	0.4 (u)	1 (u)
France	15	13	17	3	: (n)	4	2	2 (u)	2 (u)	(n):	: (C)	(n):
Croatia	30	37	24	3 (n)	: (C)	4 (u)	1 (u)	: (C)	: (n)			
Italy	13	12	14	9	3	10	7	8	5	0.2	0.3 (u)	(n):
Cyprus	17	18	15	6	(n) :	19	3 (n)	(n) :	4 (n)		•••	
Latvia	27	27	26	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)	(n) :	: (C)	: (C)	: (C)
Lithuania	21	29	17	: (n)	: (C)	: (n)	: (n)	: (C)	(n) :		•••	
Luxembourg	25	19	36	3 (n)	: (n)	7 (u)	4	4 (n)	5 (u)	(n):	:(n)	: (C)
Hungary	18	20	16	3	1 (u)	4	1	: (n)	: (n)	(n):	: (C)	(n):
Malta	6 (u)	8 (n)		: (n)	: (C)	: (n)	: (n)	: (C)	: (n)			
Netherlands	21	18	26	2	1 (u)	4	12	6	18	0.3 (u)	:(n)	: (C)
Austria	29	37	22	2	: (n)	3	3	3	3		•••	
Poland	20	28	15	2	1 (u)	3	2	1 (u)	2		•••	
Portugal	37	36	39	5	(n) :	7	6	10	6	: (C)	: (C)	: (C)
Romania	30	35	26	7	4	6	: (n)	: (n)	: (n)			
Slovenia	10	14	(n) 9	: (n)	: (C)	: (n)	1 (n)	: (n)	: (n)	: (C)	: (C)	
Slovakia	17	24	12	4	1 (u)	5	: (n)	: (C)	: (C)			
Finland	31	32	30	2	1 (u)	3	6	7	6	:(n)	:(n)	
Sweden	20	14	25	6	ĸ	6	13	15	11	1 (u)	:(n)	: (C)
United Kingdom	21	22	20	6	5	12	13	11	14	:(n)	:(n)	(n):
EU-28	21	22	20	4	2	9	5	5	9	4	5	4
Source: Eurostat (Ifso_12n	easnot).											

Note: '' indicates data were not available, '(u)' indicates data with low reliability; '(c)' indicates confidential data.

Gender gap in pensions in the EU — research note to the Latvian Presidency



Table 9: People at risk of poverty before social transfers (pensions included in social transfers) by level of activity limitation, sex and age, as percentage of total population, 2012

	Sc	me and seve	ere		None	
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
16 years or over	69	67	70	38	35	40
From 55 to 64 years	63	60	66	43	37	49
65 years or over	90	90	89	86	84	88

Source: Eurostat (hlth_dpe030).

Table 10: Formal childcare by age group and duration — % over the population of each age group, 2012

	Less tha	n 3 years	From 3 years compulsory	to minimum school age	From minimu school age	m compulsory to 12 years
	From 1 to 29	30 hours or	From 1 to 29	30 hours or	From 1 to 29	30 hours or
	hours	over	hours	over	hours	over
BE	21	27	25	75	17	83
BG	0	8	5	92	32	68
CZ	2	1	27	48	40	48
DK	8	59	9	85	34	66
DE	9	15	40	51	44	47
EE	4	14	10	83	49	51
IE	10	11	68	14	60	39
EL	5	15	37	39	26	63
ES	21	15	52	40	50	48
FR	17	23	45	50	43	56
HR	0	12	9	32	63	31
IT	10	11	21	70	17	83
CY	7	19	32	42	65	34
LV	4	19	7	72	26	72
LT	3	5	6	68	70	29
LU	21	27	45	35	53	46
HU	2	6	14	61	17	70
MT	16	1	31	60	7	93
NL	39	7	75	14	77	23
AT	7	7	57	23	52	48
PL	1	5	10	26	45	49
PT	1	34	5	81	7	92
RO	11	4	48	11	84	5
SI	2	36	11	81	29	70
SK	1	4	12	59	30	46
FI	7	22	20	57	86	14

	Less tha	n 3 years	From 3 years compulsory	to minimum school age	From minimu school age	n compulsory to 12 years
	From 1 to 29	30 hours or	From 1 to 29	30 hours or	From 1 to 29	30 hours or
	nours	over	nours	over	nours	over
SE	17	35	27	69	1	99
UK	24	3	63	9	98	1
EU-28	14	14	37	46	50	46

Source: Eurostat, EU-SILC.

Note: Data for IE (all data points) and PT (less than 3 years and from to 1 to 29 hours only) refer to 2011.



Annex II — Methodology

The gender gap in pensions is defined as a percentage by which women's average pension is lower than men's. It is computed in the following way: one minus women's average income divided by men's average income and multiplied by 100 to express the ratio as a percentage.

$$\left(1 - \frac{\text{women's average pension income}}{\text{men's average pension income}}\right) \times 100$$

The methodology for calculating the gender gap in pensions is based on the methodology used and described in the report "The gender gap in pensions in the EU". It identifies EU-SILC survey as the major source of statistics on income that can be used to calculate gender gap in pensions.

In order to construct a gender gap in pensions for EU Member States, EU-SILC 2012 data (income reference period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011) were used, creating a subsample of individuals that are 65 years old or older and had at least one positive income value of variables: old age benefits (PY100G), survivor's benefits (PY110G) or regular pensions from individual private plans (PY080G).

1) Old age benefits (PY100G) refer to the provision of social protection against the risk linked to old age, loss of income, inadequate income, lack of independence in carrying out daily tasks, reduced participation in social life, and so on. Old age benefits cover benefits that: provide a replacement income when the aged person retires from the labour market, or guarantee a certain income when a person has reached a prescribed age. It includes:

• Old age pensions: periodic payments intended to maintain the income of the beneficiary after retirement from gainful employment at the standard age or support the income of old persons

- Anticipated old age pensions: periodic payments intended to maintain the income of beneficiaries who retire before the standard age as defined in the relevant scheme or in the scheme of reference. This may occur with or without a reduction of the normal pension.
- Partial retirement pensions: periodic payment of a portion of the full retirement pension to older workers who continue to work but reduce their working hours or whose income from a professional activity is below a defined ceiling.
- Care allowances: benefit paid to old people who need frequent or constant assistance to help them meet the extra costs of attendance (other than medical care) when the benefit is not a reimbursement of certified expenditure.
- Disability cash benefits paid after the standard retirement age.
- Lump-sum payments at the normal retirement date.
- Other cash benefits: other periodic and lumpsum benefits paid upon retirement or on account of old age, such as capital sums paid to people who do not fully meet the requirements for a periodic retirement pension, or who were members of a scheme designed to provide only capital sums at retirement.

It excludes:

- family allowances for dependent children,
- early retirement benefits paid for labour market reasons or in case of reduced capacity to work,
- benefits paid to old people who need frequent or constant assistance to help them meet the extra costs of attendance when the benefits are reimbursed against a certified expenditure.

2) Survivor's benefits (PY110G) refer to benefits that provide a temporary or permanent income to people below retirement age who have suffered from the loss of their spouse, partner or next-ofkin, usually when the latter represented the main breadwinner for the beneficiary. Survivors eligible for benefit may be the spouse or ex-spouse of the deceased person, his or her children, grandchildren, parents or other relatives. In some cases, the benefit may also be paid to someone outside the family. A survivor's benefit is normally granted on the basis of a derived right, that is, a right originally belonging to another person whose death is a condition for granting the benefit. It includes:

- Survivor's pension: periodic payments to people whose entitlement derives from their relationship with a deceased person protected by a scheme (widows, widowers, orphans and similar) (even after the standard retirement age)
- Death grant: single payment to someone whose entitlement derives from their relationship with a deceased person (widows, widowers, orphans and similar)
- Other cash benefits: other periodic or lump-sum payments made by virtue of a derived right of a survivor.

It excludes:

- family allowances for dependent children,
- funeral expenses,
- additional payments made by employers to other eligible persons to supplement the survivors' benefits pay entitlement from a social insurance scheme, where such payments cannot be separately and clearly identified as social benefits.

Note: periodic payments to people whose entitlement derives from their relationship with a deceased person during a war are included in PY110. Survivor's benefits paid after the standard retirement age are included under 'Old age benefits'. 3) Regular pensions from individual private plans (PY080G) refer to pensions and annuities received, during the income reference period, in the form of interest or dividend income from individual private insurance plans, i.e. fully organised schemes where contributions are at the discretion of the contributor independently of their employers or government. It includes:

 Old age, survivors, sickness, disability and unemployment pensions received as interest or dividends from individual insurance private plans.

It excludes:

- Pensions from mandatory government schemes.
- Pensions from mandatory employer-based schemes (⁷).

Therefore, the exact formula used in calculations is as follows:

$$\left(1 - \frac{\frac{\sum_{i:1}^{F}(PY080G_{i} + PY100G_{i} + PY110G_{i})w_{i}}{\sum_{i:1}^{F}w_{i}}}{\frac{\sum_{j:1}^{M}(PY080G_{j} + PY100G_{j} + PY110G_{j})w_{j}}{\sum_{i:1}^{M}w_{j}}}\right)x100$$

where 'F' refers to women and 'M' for men. Personal cross-sectional weights for women are identified by 'i' and the corresponding weight for men by 'j' (EU-SILC variable PB040). PB040 weights let the EU-SILC sample to be representative of the concerned country's population.

⁽⁷⁾ Description of target variables, cross-sectional and longitudinal, EU-SILC 2012.



Annex III — Summary of pension systems in Member States

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Belgium	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed mainly by contributions covering the active population (employees and self-employed) providing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation with rates depending on family situation. Legal retirement age: 65 years for men and women.	For each year taken into consideration, a pension share is granted according to the following formulas: Single or married without dependent spouse: $S \times 60\% \times 1/45$. Married with dependent spouse: $S \times 75\% \times 1/45$. S = reference salary
Bulgaria	First pillar: public pension insurance, func- tioning as a standard pay-as-you-go system. It is mandatory and covers all individuals hired by employers as well as self-em- ployed, farmers, individuals working with- out a formal labour contract and others; nearly 30 categories of insured persons. The right to a pension is acquired for men: 63 years and 8 months of age and 37 years and 8 months of insurance; and for women: 60 years and 8 months of age and 34 years and 8 months of insurance. Since 31 De- cember 2011, the retirement age and the required length of insurance has started to increase. Second pillar: supplementary compulsory pension insurance based on a defined contributory fully funded principle. There are two types of funds within this second pillar. The one is the so-called Universal Pension Fund and covers all persons born after 31 December 1959. The second one is the Professional Pension Fund and covers the persons working under the first or the second labour category.	First pillar: calculation basis multiplied by 1.1 % for each year of insurance and a proportional amount for each additional month of insurance (1.2% as of 1 January 2017). The calculation basis is multiplied by 4% for each year of insurance and a proportional amount for each additional month of insurance in cases where the persons have completed the re- quired conditions for acquiring the right to a pension for insurance and old-age and continue working, without having been granted a pension. The insurance period is adjusted to reflect whether it was performed in the first, second or third category of labour. Second pillar: the amount of the supplementary lifelong old-age pension shall be determined on the basis of: * the resources accrued on the individual account; * the biometric tables; * the technical interest rate. The amount of the fixed-period early-retirement occupational pension shall be determined on the basis of: * the amounts accrued on the individual account; * the period of receipt; * the technical interest rate.

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Czech Republic	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions covering the active population (employees and self-em- ployed) and assimilated groups providing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Legal retirement age: 62 years and 8 months for men; for women depends upon the number of children raised: no children: 61 years and 8 months, 1 child: 60 years and 8 months, 2 children: 59 years and 8 months, 3 or 4 children: 58 years and 8 months, 5 or more children: 57 years and 8 months. The retirement age for men is gradually increased by 2 months each year and for women by 4 months each year (6 months from 2018) until it equals that of men. After that, the increase will also be 2 months per year.	The pension consists of two elements: Basic amount: flat rate (9% of monthly average wage) of \in 85 per month. Percentage amount: earnings related element calculated from the personal assessment base and the number of years of insurance: 1.5% (or 1.2% for contributory insurance in the 1st and 2nd pillars) of the personal assessment base per year of insurance (no maximum).
Denmark	Social pension: tax financed universal protection scheme covering all inhabitants with flat-rate pensions depending on the duration of residence. Supplementary pension: compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contribu- tions covering employees and assimilated groups providing pensions depending on contributions. Legal retirement age: 65 years for men and women.	Social pension: (1) basic pension: 1/40 of an annual amount of \notin 9 506 per year of residence between the ages of 15 and 65 up to a maximum of 40/40. The basic pension is reduced by the professional income of the pensioner; (2) pension supplement: 1/40 of an annual amount of \notin 4 764 for married/cohabiting pensioners or \notin 9 874 for single pensioners per year of residence between the ages of 15 and 65 up to a maximum of 40/40. The pension supplement is reduced by all income of the pensioner and his/her spouse/cohabiting partner. Supplementary pension: annual amount of \notin 3 218 at the age of 65 if the insured has been affiliated to the supplementary scheme since 1 April 1964 and has always worked full-time since then. Supplementary pensions of less than \notin 335 per year will be replaced by a lump sum payment.



	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Germany	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions and taxes covering employees and certain groups of self-employed providing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Legal retirement age: 67 years for men and women.	Pension formula: PEP x RA (1,0) x AR PEP (Personal Remuneration Points): the sum of re- muneration points results from the insured earnings for each year divided by the national average of earnings for the same year and the value of cred- ited non-contributory periods, multiplied with the access factor. The access factor follows the age of the insured at the commencement of pension payments and effects reductions in the case of early pensions or increases in the case of a pension deferment after the standard retirement age has been reached. RA (Pension type factor): a factor established accord- ing to the respective insurance objective (1.0 for a full old-age pension). AR (current pension value): the amount correspond- ing to the monthly old-age pension of the general pension insurance without reductions, if contribu- tions based on the average earnings were paid over one calendar year. It is adjusted annually in accord- ance with the development of wages and salaries. The actual pension value amounts to €28.14 in the old Länder and €25.74 in the new Länder.
Estonia	Old-age pension: universal social insurance scheme financed by contributions provid- ing pensions depending on the duration of activity (until 1998) and on contributions (since 1999). National pension: tax-financed universal scheme guaranteeing a minimum pension for persons who are not entitled to an old- age pension. Supplementary pension (2nd pillar): fully funded pension insurance based on private asset management under State supervision with contribution-defined pensions. Sub- scription to the funded pension is manda- tory for persons entering the labour market, i.e. persons born in 1983 or later. Legal retirement age: 63 years for men, 62 years for women (2013). Pensionable age is gradually increasing and shall be equal- ised for men and women by 2016 at the age of 63. From 2017 the gradual increase of the pensionable age will be continued and pensionable age shall be equalised for men and women by 2026 at the age of 65.	Old-age pension is calculated as the sum of 3 com- ponents: * a base amount (from 1 April 2013 the base amount is €126.8183) * a length of service component, calculated as the pensionable length of service (acquired before 31 December 1998) multiplied with the value of one service year. The component calculated on the basis of years of pensionable service depends on the num- ber of years of pensionable service of the pension applicant acquired until 31 December 1998. * an insurance component, calculated as the sum of annual pension coefficients calculated on the basis of registered social tax paid after 1 January 1999 mul- tiplied with the value of one service year. To calculate the pension insurance coefficients for the pension applicant, the amounts of social tax registered on the account of the insured person in the pension insurance register are summed up and divided with the national average amount of social tax over the same calendar year. From 1 April 2013 the value of a service year is €4 718. The base amount and the value of a service year are subject to annual indexation. 2nd pillar: life time annuities (unisex).

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Ireland	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions for the active population (employees and self-employed) with flat-rate benefits. State pension (contributory) is payable at age 66 to all persons satisfying the con- tribution conditions (retirement is not a condition for receipt of this pension). The State pension (transition) is no longer paid where a person reaches 65 on or after 1 January 2014.	State pension (contributory): €230.30 per week (max- imum). If average number of annual contribution weeks registered is more than 10, but less than 48, a reduced pension is payable.
Greece	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions, covering em- ployees and providing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Various special schemes for different groups of the self-employed. Possibility to pay optional contributions for periods of military service and of parental leave. Legal retirement age: 67 years for men and women (if 15 years of insurance); 62 years for men and women (if 40 years of insur- ance).	Persons insured before 1 January 1993: basic pen- sion: the percentage of the fictive wage taken as a reference varies between 70% and 30% in inverse relationship to earnings. Persons insured since 1 January 1993: the level of the pension varies according to the number of years insured. Each year corresponds to 2% of pensionable income.
Spain	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions covering em- ployees and assimilated groups providing earnings-related retirement pensions depending on contributions and the dur- ation of affiliation. Special scheme for the self-employed. Legal retirement age: 65 years for men and women (with 35 years and 6 months of contributions); 65 years and two months for men and women (with less than 35 years and 6 months of contributions). Progressive increase until 2027: 65 years for men and women (with 38 years and 6 months of contributions); 67 years for men and women (with less than 38 years and 6 months of contributions).	The amount of the retirement pension is obtained by applying a percentage rate to the calculation basis. The rate index starts at 50% with 15 contribution years and increases by 0.21% for every additional month between the 1st and the 136th month and by 0.19% for the next 83 months, until reaching 100% after 35.5 contribution years. (2027: 100% after 37 contribution years.) Employees over the legal retirement age with more than 15 years of contributions who continue work- ing are entitled to a 2-4% increase of the pension amount for each complete additional contribution year credited between the legal age of retirement and the effective retirement, according to the follow- ing scale: until 25 years of contribution: 2%; between 25 and 37 years: 2.75%; from 37 years on: 4%. The pension is paid 14 times a year.



	Desta astis stales	
		Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
	Compulsory basic and complementary	General scheme for employees: reference salary x t x
	social insurance schemes financed by	n/from 160 to 166 according to the year of birth.
	contributions providing earnings-related	t = pension rate. Based on the age of the insured
	pensions depending on contributions and	person and the number of years of contributions.
	the duration of affiliation.	Maximum rate of 50% if 160 quarters of insurance
	Legal retirement age: general scheme for	for insured persons born before 1949, increased by a
	employees	quarter per generation until reaching 165 for those
	^ if minimum period of amilation complet-	born in 1953 and 1954, and 166 for those born from
	ed: 60 for persons born before 1 July 1951.	1955 to 1957.
	The retirement age increases by live	Reduction of the pension amount if the maximum
	months per birth year to reach 62 for per-	duration is not reached. The reduction per quarter
	solis point in 1955 of idler.	gradually decreases from 2.125% per quarter (for the
	" If minimum period of anniation not	generation born in 1946) to 1.25 % (for generations
	Completed: 65 for persons born before	born after 1952).
	1 July 1951. Gradual increase per birth year	The full rate is applicable for certain groups, regard-
	to reach of for persons born in 1955 or	less of the number of years of contributions (for
	Idlei.	example, for employees with 50% incapacity, female
	complementary schemes for employees	manual workers having raised 3 children, war vet-
	and management stall, between 05 and 07	erans or victims) or if the insured person has reached
	full rate	the age at which the pension is paid at the full rate
	iun late.	(between 65 and 67 according to the year of birth) at
		the moment the pension payment is due.
JCe		n = insurance period: 150 quarters for insured born
Fran		in 1943 or previously. 160 quarters for generations
		born after 1947. For generations born after 1949, the
		insurance period corresponds to that required for
		drawing a full pension.
		Complementary schemes for employees and man-
		agement staff: total number of points multiplied by
		the value of the point.

Basic principles Benefits: calculation method or pension formula Compulsory social insurance scheme for First pillar: Those entitled to the first pillar pension the active population with benefits deonly: personal points x pension factor x actual value pending on previous earnings and duration of pension. Personal points: average value points x total gualifying period. Value points: gross or net of employment, supplemented by a compulsory funded second pillar system. earnings of the person concerned in each calendar Legal retirement age: 65 years for men, 61 year divided by the national average gross or net years for women. The pensionable age for annual earnings of all employed persons in the same women is being gradually increased by 3 year. Average value points: total of value points months per calendar year from 1 Novemdivided by the respective period for which value ber 2010 onwards, to reach 65 in 2030. The points are taken into account (earnings history after pensionable age for both women and men 1970, which may be shorter than the total gualifying will be gradually increased by 3 months per period). Pension factor: 1. Actual value of pension: the calendar year from 2031 onwards, to reach amount of one personal point is determined twice 67 in 2038 annually by the Management Board of the Croatian Pension Insurance Institute. Those entitled to a pension from both the first and the second pillar will receive the first pillar pension for the insurance period completed before the introduction of the second pillar. For the insurance period completed after the introduction of the second pillar they receive the first pillar basic pension, which depends on the basic pension factor. The basic pension factor currently stands at 0.75 and reflects the share Croatia of the contribution rate of the first pillar contribution for persons insured in both pillars (i.e. 15%) in the total first pillar contribution rate for persons insured only in the first pillar (i.e. 20%). Since November 2007, the Pensions Supplement Act provides for pension supplements to all types of first pillar pensions acquired from 1999 onwards, by adding 4% of the pension acquired in 1999, to 27% of the pension acquired from 2010 onwards. From 1 January 2012 the pension supplement has been included in the pension amount. Under the law on decrease of pensions granted under more favourable conditions, more favourable pensions granted to special categories of insured persons are decreased by 10%. After the reduction the pension amount cannot be less than €655. Second pillar: calculated according to the amount of funds saved in the individual's account and the actuarial unisex tables. The kind of pension payment will be agreed in the form of the contract concluded between the pension insurance company and the beneficiary.



	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
	Work insurance general compulsory	For periods of contributions accrued by
	scheme covering the employees of the pri-	31 December 2011 by persons insured before
	vate sector by providing benefits calculated	1 January 1996, the below earnings-related calcula-
	according to two determining factors: age	tion system applies:
	and accrued contributions.	* Earnings up to €46 076 (ceiling): 2 % x n x E.
	Compulsory special schemes are provided	* Partial amount up to €61 281.08 (ceiling x 1.33):
	for the self-employed as well as a certain	1.6% x n x E.
	number of special pension funds for specif-	* Partial amount up to €76 486.16 (ceiling x 1.66):
	ic calegories of workers.	1.35% x n x E.
	of the private sector self-employees	* Partial amount up to €87 544.40 (ceiling x 1.90):
	para-subordinate workers: 66 years and 3	1.1 % x n x E.
_>	months: civil servants (men and women).	* Earnings over €87 544.40: 0.9% x n x E.
Ital	66 years and 3 months; women as em-	n = number of years of insurance (max.: 40).
	ployees of the private sector: 63 years and	E = reference earnings.
	9 months; self-employed women and	For periods of contributions accrued since 1/1/2012,
	para-subordinate women workers: 64 years	according to the contribution related calculation
	and 9 months; 65 years and 3 months for	system: contribution amounts are adjusted yearly
	the granting of the welfare-based social al-	according to the average increase of the GDP over
	lowance. The retirement age is being grad-	the last five years. The pension amount is calculated
	ually increased according to the increase	by multiplying the total contribution amount by a
	In life expectancy. As of January 2021, the	transformation coefficient (i.e. an actuarial coefficient
	(it will reach 60 and 0 months by the year	which varies according to age which is gradually
	(11 Will reach 09 and 9 months by the year 2050) The pension payment deferment	increased according to life expectancy).
	scheme no longer applies.	
	Compulsory social insurance scheme	Basic pension: 60 % of the weekly value of the annual
	financed by contributions covering the	average of the insurance points of the paid and as-
	active population (employees and self-em-	similated basic insurance, increased to 80%, 90% and
	ployed) providing earnings-related pen-	100% for the first, second or third dependant respec-
	sions and other benefits depending on	tively. In case of a beneficiary without a dependent
	contributions and the duration of affiliation.	spouse, the increase for dependent children is in any
	Legal retirement age: 65 years for men and	case equal to the 10% of the basic pension for each
	women; 63 years for miners.	child (maximum number of dependent children: two).
		Supplementary pension: 1.5% of the total value of the
rus		insurance points of the paid and assimilated supple-
-yp		mentary insurance over claimant's whole career which
\cup		is converted into a weekly amount by dividing by 52.
		The old-age pension is paid for 13 months a year.
		For the purposes of calculating the amount of pen-
		sions starting between / January 2013 and
		is determined as $\notin 172.98$ per week or $\notin 8.005$ appually

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
	Basic principles Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions for all employees and self-employed: * 1st pillar: pay-as-you-go-scheme provid- ing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. * 2nd pillar: funded scheme providing pen- sions depending on accumulated contribu- tions and the pension fund selected. On voluntary basis: private pension insur- ance (3rd tier) financed by contributions.	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula 1st pillar: pension formula: $P = K / G$, where $P =$ annu- al pension; $K =$ the pension capital of insured person; G = time period (in years), during which pension dis- bursements are planned, starting from the pension allocation year (projected life expectancy at a certain retirement age). Pension formula during the transition period: P = Ks + K / G where P, K, G — see above; Ks = starting (credited) capital, calculated according to the following formula: $Ks = Vi \times As \times 0.2$ where As = the insurance record until the year 1995 (inclusive); Vi = the average individual contribution according
	62 years and 3 months. The legal retirement age is gradually increased by 3 months per year until reaching 65 years in 2025.	2nd pillar: two possibilities: (1) the accrued funded pension capital shall be transferred to the individual account of the first tier of pension capital and the pension is calculated from the total amount accord- ing to formula described above; (2) the participant may, for the accrued funded pension capital, pur- chase a life annuity from an insurance company.
Latvia		



Benefits: calculation method or pension formula

Basic principles

1st pillar: compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions covering the active population (employees and self-employed) and providing a pension with a flat-rate and an earnings-related element.

2nd pillar: the 2nd pension pillar started in 2004. A person insured for the full pension insurance (main and supplementary parts of pension) may voluntarily choose either to stay only in the social insurance system or switch to the 2nd pillar and direct a part of social insurance contributions dedicated for the supplementary part of old-age pension (2.5% in 2004, 3.5% in 2005, 4.5% in 2006, 5.5% in 2007 and 2008, 3% from 1 January to 30 June 2009, 2% from 1 July 2009 to 31 December 2011, 1.5 % in 2012, 2.5% in 2013, 2% in 2014) to a personal account in a chosen privately managed pension fund. From 2014 onwards, persons who pay an additional contribution of 1% of their salary will receive from the State budget a contribution of 1% of their average salary earned during the year preceding the last one. After switching to the 2nd pillar, one is not allowed to come back solely to the social insurance system. Legal retirement age: men: 63 years; women: 61 years. From 2012 onwards, the retirement age is annually increasing by 4 months for women and by 2 months for men until it reaches 65 for both women and men in 2026.

The monthly old-age pension is calculated according to the formula: P = B + 0.005 *s*k*D + Pr, where B = basicpart of pension which is 110% of basic State social insurance pension determined by the Government and may not be less than 110% of the Minimum Standard of Living; Coefficient 0.005 = 0.5% of the average wage earned in each year is added annually to the supplementary part of the person's future pension; s = total insurance period;k = calculated according to the State Social Insurance Fund data on the claimant's insured income, the wage upon which the pension contribution was paid is divided by insured income D of that year and the average for the whole 25-year period from 1994 is calculated, 'k' can be no higher than 5; D = current year's insured monthly income valid on month of payment, current year's insured income is calculated as the average of the wage from which pension insurance contributions are collected as well as any State social insurance sickness, maternity, and unemployment benefits over the year, the current year's insured income is fixed by Government; Pr = supplement for years of pension insurance, only paid to those with more than 30 insurance years: 3% of basic pension paid for every full year above 30.

Persons having an insurance record till 1994 may choose to have their pension calculated according to their income from 1984-1994 and from 1994 onwards according to the formula: P = B + 0.005*S*K*D + 0.005*s*k*D + Pr, where S = insurance period acquired whilst working under an employment contract up to 1994; s = insurance period acquired whilst working after 1994; K = rate of individual insured income for the period until 1994, which is calculated by dividing the annual wage of the insured individual by the annual national average wage, as there is no reliable data about the wage of the insured person before 1994 s/he can choose the five most favourable consecutive years from 1984 to 1993. 'K' can be no higher than 5; other letters have the same meaning as in the formula above.

For those who do not have the obligatory period required for a full pension, the same formula is used but the basic pension (B) element is proportionately reduced. For a person participating in pension accumulation (2nd pillar), the supplementary part of social insurance old-age pension is reduced according to the ratio of accumulation and supplementary pension part tariffs of the social insurance old-age pension contributions.

Lithuania

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Luxembourg	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions with a partici- pation of the State budget for the active population (employees and self-employed) with benefits depending on the duration of the affiliation (flat-rate) and on contribu- tions (earnings-related). Legal retirement age: 65 years.	The pension comprises two parts: a flat-rate part depending on the number of insurance years of 1/40 per year (max. 40) and an income- (and contribu- tions-) related part. Flat-rate pension part: €453.11 per month for 40 years of insurance. Income-related pension part: 1.844% of total earn- ings taken into account. Staggered supplements: the rate is increased by 0.011% per year in case the sum of insurance record and age exceeds the figure of 93. End-of-year allowance of €734.28 (in case of a complete career of 40 years; otherwise proportional reduction). Upon reaching the age of 65, the parent who has pri- marily devoted him- or herself to the upbringing of a child domiciled and effectively resident in Luxem- bourg, is granted a fixed allowance for child-rearing, provided the child-rearing is not otherwise consid- ered in the calculation of his or her pension. The fixed allowance equals €86.54 per month.
Hungary	Compulsory state pension scheme for the active population financed by contribu- tions with earnings-related benefits de- pending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. As of 1 January 2012, insured persons pay a 10%-pension contribution to the 1st-pillar pension insurance fund even if they are members of one of the private pension funds. Legal retirement age: 62 years of age in 2009. Retirement age is gradually increased (by half a year for every age cohort) since 2010, reaching age 65 in 2022 for those born in 1957 and after. The first persons concerned by this increase are those born in 1952.	The amount of pension depends on the insurance period and is expressed as a percentage of the revaluated net average monthly income of the indi- vidual earned since 1988. * 33% for the first 10 years of insurance period, * + 2% for each of the insurance years between 11-25, * + 1% for each of the insurance years between 26-36, * + 1.5% for each of the insurance years between 36-40, * + 2% for each of the insurance years after 40 years. For persons with an insurance period of 50 years, the pension amount equals the average income as defined above. Additional insurance years do not increase the amount of the benefit.



	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Malta	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions covering the active population (employees and self-em- ployed/self-occupied) and providing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Legal retirement age: for persons born before 1 January 1952: 61 years for men, 60 years for women; women given the option to retire at 61 years if so they wish. For persons born during the calendar years 1952 to 1955: 62 years for men and women. For persons born during the calendar years 1956 to 1958: 63 years for men and women. For persons born during the calendar years 1959 to 1961: 64 years for men and women. For persons born on or after 1 January 1962: 65 years for men and women.	Formula for the calculation of the Two-Thirds Pension: (1) For persons born before 1 January 1962: $(N1/10 + N2/20(*))/2 \times 1/50 \times 2/3 \times PI$, where N = number of weekly contributions in the last ten years; N2 = number of weekly contributions in the best 20 years in the previous years from age 19; PI = pension- able income. (*) For persons born between 1 January 1952 and 31 December 1961 replace 20 by 25. (2) For persons born on or after 1 January 1962: $(N/40) \times 1/50 \times 2/3 \times PI$, where N = highest number of weekly contributions paid or credited in 40 years from age 18 to retirement age; PI = pensionable income; N/40 = maximum 50, minimum 15.
Netherlands	Dual system: general system for all inhabitants financed by contributions on earned incomes and additional financing through taxes provid- ing flat-rate pensions with rates depending on the household situation. Compulsory supplementary pension schemes for most of the employees based on agreements between social partners. These supplementary schemes are not described in the MISSOC tables. Legal retirement age: 65 years and one month in 2013. As of 2013, the legal retire- ment age will be gradually increased to reach 66 in 2019 and 67 in 2023. As of 2024, the legal retirement age will be linked to life expectancy.	Pension (gross monthly amounts, excluding holiday supplements): * Single person: €1 074.25. * Single parent with a child aged up to 18: €1 362.20. * Married and unmarried persons sharing a house- hold (irrespective of sex), both aged over the legal retirement age: €734.41 for each person. * Pensioners with a partner younger than the legal retirement age month: €1 468.82 (maximum supple- ment). For pensioners with a partner younger than the legal retirement age whose AOW took effect before 1 February 1994, different amounts apply. Full pension payable after 50 years of insurance. For every year in which there was no insurance, an amount of 2 % of the full pension is deducted.

Compulsory social insurance scheme fi- nanced by contributions covering employ- depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Legal retirement age 65 years for men, 60 years for women. Progressive increase of age limit for women until the same retirement age as for men will have been reached between the years 2024 and 2033. For persons who have neared the age of 50 or 1 January 2005. The legislation (see below) (fit application of both the new and the old provis to the insurance life as a whole if there are insu- periods before 1 January 2005. The pensions. For persons who have reached the age of 50 o 1 January 2005. The legislation as of 31 Decemb ber 2004 hall continue to apply: per insurance 1.78% of the calculation base. Pensions granted under the legis in force until 31 December 2003. This value will gradually increased to 10% by 2024. Insured persons who have acquired at least on insurance month in the mandatory pension in unce until 31 December 2003. This value will gradually increased to 10% by 2024. Insured persons who have acquired at least on insurance month in the mandatory pension or pensions account. The pension is paid 14 times per year.	of ns for e an- ment. pen- used ie with ititious ions rance made n - e year d as of than lation l be e sur- on their



	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Poland	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions covering the active population (employees and self-em- ployed) and providing earnings-related pensions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Mixed system composed of a first pillar, financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, and a funded second pillar. Persons born before 1949 are subject to the first pillar system only. Persons born after 1969 are subject to the new, mixed system. Those born between 1949 and 1968 could choose whether to remain in the old or to join the new system. Special schemes for policemen, soldiers, prosecutors, judges. Legal retirement age: old-age pension: women: 60 years, men: 65 years. Since 1 January 2013 the retirement age grad- ually increases by one month per three months for every age cohort, until it reaches 67 for both men and women. The first persons concerned by this increase are those born in 1953 (women) and 1949 (men). Partial pension: women: 62 years, men: 65 years.	Old-age pension: persons born before 1 January 1949: The amount of the old-age pension is calculated according to the following formula: E = kb x (wpw x os x 1.3 % + wpw x on x 0.7 % + 24%) where: kb = 'Basic Amount' equal to national average wage minus the social insurance contribution over the previous year; wpw = 'Reference Wage Coeffi- cient' (shows the relationship, as a percentage, be- tween the individual's average reference wage for the pension calculation period and the national average wage during that period); os = periods during which no contributions were paid; on = periods during which no contributions are paid. Persons born since 1 January 1949: The amount of the old-age pension is calculated as follows: the total pension assets accumulated in the individual's account are divided by the average remaining life expectancy at the age of application for pension. Partial pension: the amount of partial pension equals 50% of the old-age pension calculated according to the above formula.

Basic princ	ples	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Basic princ Compulsor financed b active pop ployed) wid depending duration of Legal retire women in standard reto to the aver of 65.	ples y social insurance scheme y contributions covering the ulation (employees and self-em- th earnings-related pensions on registered earnings and the contribution career. ment age: 66 years foe men and 2014 and 2015. After 2014, the tirement age will vary according age life expectancy at the age	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula Monthly rate of old-age pension. Persons insured since 1 January 2002; monthly amount set up by the product of the reference earn- ings and the pension constitution rate related to the number of contribution years: *up to 20 contribution years: pension = 2% x N x RE (N = number of contribution years; RE = reference earnings) *more than 20 contribution years; tapering rates varying between 2.3% and 2% are applied to certain RE brackets, which are indexed to the indexing ref- erence of social support (€419.22) and vary between 1.1 and 8 times or more this reference. Persons insured before 31 December 2001 and whose pension begins before or on 31 December 2016: monthly amount set according to the proportional implementation of the calcula- tion rules applying to the contribution period until 31 December 2006 and the rules in force since 1 January 2007. Persons insured before 31 December 2001 and whose pension will begin as of 1 January 2017: monthly amount set according to the proportional implementation of the calculation rules applying to the contribution period until 31 December 2001 and the rules applying to the contribution period since 1 January 2002. The factor of financial sustainability (related to the awount of the pension calculated above, corres- ponding to the year on which the pension started. The factor of financial sustainability results from the relation between the average life expectancy in 2000 and the one of the year preceding the claim for pension.



	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Romania	Public system of pensions: social insurance scheme, general, compul- sory, contributory, pay-as-you-go, defined benefit, providing both cash and in-kind benefits. Legal retirement age (old-age pension): men: 64 years and 9 months on 1 January 2014, increasing to 65 years on 1 January 2015; women: 59 years and 9 months on 1 January 2014, increasing to 63 years on 1 January 2030.	The calculation method is based on a point system. The pension formula is comparable for old-age, in- validity, survivors, and accidents at work and occupa- tional diseases functions. The old-age pension formula is: OAP = PPV *AAS, where: OAP = Old-Age Pension; PPV = Pension Point Value €176; AAS = Annual Average Score = Σ AS/FCP; where AS = Annual Score = Σ MS/12; FCP = Full Con- tribution Period; MS = Monthly Score = RE/AGE; RE = Reference earnings; AGE = Average Gross Earn- ings (realised at national level; communicated by the National Institute of Statistics per month). The monthly score for an insured person who also contributed to the second pillar shall be adjusted by the ratio between the contribution rate (employer and employee for normal working conditions) due to the public system of pensions and the contribution rate (employer and employee for normal working conditions) due to both the public system of pen- sions and the second pillar.
Slovenia	Compulsory social insurance scheme financed by contributions covering the active population (employed and self-em- ployed) providing earnings-related pen- sions depending on contributions and the duration of affiliation. Compulsory supplementary pension insur- ance for people performing hard work and work harmful to health. Legal retirement age: 65 years for men and women.	Earnings replacement system: * Men: 26% of the Pension Rating Basis — PRB for 15 years of insurance period. 1.25% increase of PRB for each additional year of qualifying period. * Women: 29% of the PRB for 15 insurance years. 1.25% increase of PRB for each additional year of qualifying period. Each additional year of qualifying period without a purchased period completed under compulsory insurance by an insured person who remains in compulsory insurance after having met the retire- ment conditions is evaluated so that three months of qualifying period without a purchased period amount to 1%. Pensioners are entitled to a lump-sum yearly bonus.

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
Slovakia	Basic principles 1st pillar: pay-as-you-go social insurance scheme based on contributions and solidarity principle, where the sum of the benefit is de- rived from earnings activity during the whole working life. Special scheme for policemen, soldiers and customs officers. 2nd pillar: funded scheme based on contri- butions (paid by employers, employees and by the State) and on an assessment of the money deposited with benefits linked to the accrued pension capital. 3rd pillar: supplementary voluntary old-age insurance scheme financed by contributions of insured persons and employers. Legal retirement age: 62 years for all popula- tion groups (except for women with multiple	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula 1st pillar: old-age pension, monthly benefit. Pension for- mula: APEP x PPI x CPV, where APEP = Average Personal Earnings Point determined as proportion of the multi- plication of personal points achieved during particular calendar years (during decisive period) by the periods of pension insurance. The personal earnings point is deter- mined as a proportion of the gross yearly income of the insured to the national average yearly wage. The ceiling of the personal earnings point corresponds to a value of 3, whereas the ceiling of APEP equals a value of 2.72 and will gradually decrease over time to reach a value of 2.3 in 2018; PPI = Period of Pension Insurance = num- ber of insurance years; CPV = Current Pension Value. The CPV is declared each year by the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family, and should reflect 1.25% of the monthly average national wage). For calculating the benefits in 2014 the CPV is €10.2524.
	children, for whom this retirement age will be reached in 2023). From 2017 onwards the legal retirement age will gradually increase depending on the growth of life expectancy.	2nd pillar: the amount of benefit depends on conven- tional insurance principles. Possibility of choice between Programmatic Relief with Life Annuity with the possibili- ty to draw sooner the disposal surplus, or Life Annuity.
Finland	Dual system: (1) insurance system (statutory earnings-re- lated pension) financed by contributions covering all economically active persons (employees, self-employed, farmers) pro- viding earnings-related pensions depend- ing on contributions and the duration of affiliation and (2) tax-financed universal coverage system (national pension and guarantee pension) guaranteeing a minimum pension. The pension schemes are integrated and when statutory earnings-related pension exceeds a given limit, no national pension is paid. In addition appr. 3 % of population aged 15-64 are covered by supplementary 2nd pillar pension provision. Legal retirement age: 65 years for national pension and guarantee pension. Statutory earnings-related pension: Old-age pension to one's own choice between the ages of 63 to 68. In the public sector there are lower individual retirement ages.	National pension: full amount between €562.27 and €633.91 per month according to marital sta- tus. If years of residence are less than 80% of the time between the age of 16 and 65 the pension is proportional to the length of residence. Statutory earnings-related pension and other Finnish or foreign pensions received reduce the national pension by 50% when annual total exceeds €671. Statutory earnings-related pensions earned after the age of 63 do not reduce the national pension. Guarantee pension: the full amount is €743.38 per month. Other pension income is deducted from the full amount of the guarantee pension. Statutory earnings-related pension: age-dependent accrual rate on the annual earnings: 1.5% between 18 and 52; 1.9% between 53 and 62; and 4.5% between 63 and 68 years. For pensioners who are in employment, the accrual rate is 1.5% of the earnings. The accrual rate for unpaid periods is 1.5%. The life expectancy coefficient in 2014 is 0.97552 re- ducing the theoretical pension amount calculated in the age cohort born in 1952. It will reduce pensions at the outset by 2%.



Basic principles

The public old-age pension system is a compulsory and universal scheme consisting of three parts:

* the earnings-related old-age pension and the earnings-related supplementary pension, financed by contributions on a 'pay-as-you-go'-basis;

* the fully funded premium reserve pension with individual accounts;

* the tax financed Guaranteed pension for all residents with low or no earnings-related old-age pension.

Legal retirement age: flexible retirement age from 61. Possibility to work over 67 years with employer's consent.

Sweden

Benefits: calculation method or pension formula

Earnings-related old-age pension: accrued pension rights are indexed annually according to the development of average wages. Pensions will be calculated by dividing total accrued pension assets by an annuity factor depending on the average life expectancy for a cohort, on the age of retirement for an individual and on a 'norm' for (expected) increase of average wages. The 'norm' for increase in average wages is 1.6%. It is used in the index for the yearly adjustment of pensions as well as in the factor for calculating the first year's pension. The annuity factor works as follows: Once the first year's pension is established, it is indexed according to the increase in average wages reduced by the norm. The annuity factor for computation of the first years pension is affected by the norm in such a way that the present value of the pension payments to a person living as long as the life expectancy for the cohort, is the same as if the first year's pension had been calculated without the norm (it would then have been substantially lower than under the rules now enacted) and a straight wage indexation had been used. Earnings-related supplementary pension: 60% x base amount x average pension point x number of years with pension point. The tax authority decides upon the pensionable income. Starting point is the person's own tax declaration. Then the income of each income year is transformed into a pension point. Only the 15 best years are taken into consideration when calculating the average pension point but 30 years with pensionable income are needed to draw a full supplementary pension. Premium reserve pension: conventional insurance principles are applied. Only life annuities are granted. These are also calculated using an annuity factor that reflects expected life expectancy remaining. The beneficiary can on retirement choose to keep the pension capital in the chosen funds which gives a pension that is recalculated every year taking into account the development of the value of the funds or to place the capital in a traditional annuity insurance that guarantees life-long disbursement of a fixed monthly amount. Guaranteed pension: a full pension after 40 years of residence amounts for an unmarried person to 2.13 Price base amounts, i.e. €10 646. A full pension amounts, for a married person to 1.9 Price base amounts, i.e. €9 497. For each year of residence less than 40, the amount is reduced by 1/40. The guaranteed pension is also reduced in relation to earnings-related pensions.

	Basic principles	Benefits: calculation method or pension formula
United Kingdom	Contributory state pension scheme (for people who have reached state pension age) made up of a flat-rate basic state pen- sion, an earnings-related additional state pension (State Earnings-Related Pension Scheme (SERPS) and state second pension that reformed SERPS from April 2002) and an earnings-related graduated retirement benefit. A means-tested, tax-financed pen- sion credit may be payable to persons who have reached state pension age. Voluntary supplementary pension schemes may be used to replace benefits provided by the additional state pension. Legal retirement age: state pension age for men: 65 years, for women: 60 years (up until 5 April 2010). From 6 April 2010 women's state pension age is gradually rising until it reaches age 65 in November 2018. From December 2018 the state pension age for both men and women will start to increase to reach 66 by October 2020.	Basic state pension: flat-rate amount of €137 per week (paid pro-rata if number of qualifying years is less than the requisite number). Graduated retirement benefit: €0.15 per week for each €9.05 (men) or €11 (women) contributed. State Earnings-Related Pension Scheme (SERPS): accrual rate of 1.25% a year, based on average in- dexed surplus earnings (after 1978 until 5 April 2002) between the lower and upper earnings limit. For persons attaining pensionable age from 6 April 2000 the accrual rate reduces over a ten-year transitional period to 1.00%. State second pension: From April 2002-March 2010, the accrual rate is: (i) double prevailing SERPS accrual rate for earnings between the annual Lower Earnings Limit (LEL) and the Low Earnings Threshold (LET); (ii) half the prevailing SERPS accrual rate for earnings between ((3 x LET) — (2 x LEL)) and the Upper Earnings Limit. From April 2010 onwards, the above accrual rates become: (i) 2.0% a year; (ii) 0.5% a year; (iii) 1.0% a year respectively.

Source: MISSOC database.



Bibliography

- Adami, R., Gough, O. and Theophilopoulou, A. (2013), 'The effect of labour earnings on post retirement income', *Journal of Economic Studies*, Vol. 40, No 3, pp. 284-297 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/01443581311283925).
- Budig, M., Misra, J. and Böckmann, I. (2010), 'The motherhood penalty in cross-national perspective: The importance of work-family policies and cultural attitudes', *Luxembourg Income Study Working Paper Series*, Working Paper No 542 (http://repo.library.upenn.edu/storage/content/2/h006u6jv7rz016ob/1/ Luxembourg_Motherhood_Penalty.pdf).
- Buzawa, E. S., and Buzawa, C. G. (2013), 'What does research suggest are the primary risk and protective factors for intimate partner violence (IPV) and what is the role of economic resources?', *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, Vol. 32, No 1, pp. 129-137. (http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=84578619&site=ehost-live).
- Childs, S. (2001), 'In their own words: New Labour women and the substantive representation of women', *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, Vol. 3, No 2, pp. 173-190 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1467-9256.2006.00247.x).
- Childs, S., and Krook, M. L. (2006), 'Gender and politics: The state of the art', *Politics*, Vol. 26, No 1, pp. 18-28 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9256.2006.00247.x).
- Correll, S. J., Benard, S. and Paik, I., (2007). 'Getting the job: Is there a motherhood penalty?', *American Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 112, No 5, pp. 1297-1339 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/511799).
- Dahlerup, D. (1988), 'From a small to a large minority: women in Scandinavian politics', *Scandinavian Political Studies*, Vol. 11, No 4, pp. 275-298 (http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1111/j.1467-9477.1988.tb00372).
- Dalal, K. (2011), 'Does economic empowerment protect women from intimate partner violence?', *Journal of Injury & Violence Research*, Vol. 3, No 1, pp. 35-44 (http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=87479400&site=ehost-live).
- European Commission (2012a), *EU sets out plans for adequate, safe and sustainable pensions*, Press release, 16 February (http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-12-140_en.htm).
- European Commission (2012b), White Paper: An agenda for adequate, safe and sustainable pensions (COM(2012) 55 final), 16 February 2012, Brussels (ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=7341&langId=en).

- European Commission (2013a), *The gender gap in pensions in the EU*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, prepared for European Commission Directorate-General for Justice by Bettio, F., Tinios, P., and Betti, G. in collaboration with Gagliardi, F. and Georgiadis, T., (http://ec.europa.eu/justice/genderequality/files/documents/130530_pensions_en.pdf).
- European Commission (2013b), *Barcelona objectives The development of childcare facilities for young children in Europe with a view to sustainable and inclusive growth* — Directorate-General for Justice (http://ec.europa.eu/justice/genderequality/files/documents/130531_barcelona_en.pdf).
- European Commission (2013c), *She figures 2012: Gender in research and innovation- statistics and indicators*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg (https://ec.europa.eu/research/science-society/document_library/pdf_06/she-figures-2012_en.pdf).
- European Commission (2014a), *Institutions for Occupational Retirement Provision (IORPs)*, updated 18 November 2014, accessed 20 November 2014 (http://ec.europa.eu/finance/pensions/iorp/index_en.htm).
- European Commission (2014b), *Pensions*, accessed 18 November 2014 (http://ec.europa.eu/social/main. jsp?catId=752&langId=en).
- European Commission (2014c), *Priorities at EU level: Annual Growth Survey*, updated 29 October 2014, accessed 20 November 2014 (http://ec.europa.eu/europe2020/making-it-happen/annual-growthsurveys/index_en.htm).
- European Commission (2014d), *Tackling the Gender Pay Gap in the European Union*, Publications Office of the European Union: Luxembourg (http://ec.europa.eu/justice/genderequality/files/gender_pay_gap/140227_gpg_brochure_web_en.pdf).
- European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2013), *Gender equality index: Report*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg (http://eige.europa.eu/content/document/gender-equality-index-report).
- European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2014), *Gender equality and economic independence: Part-time work and self-employment Report*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxemburg (http://eige.europa.eu/content/document/gender-equality-index-report).
- European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2015a), *Beijing+20: The 4th review of the implementation of the Beijing Platform for Action in the EU Member States*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) (2015b), *Policy Review on reconciliation of work, family and private life in EU*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.



- European Parliament (2003), Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council(2003/41/EC) in the activities and supervision of institutions for occupational retirement provision (OJ L 235), 3 June 2003, Brussels (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32012L0029&from=en).
- Folbre, N., Shaw, L. B., and Stark, A. (2005), 'Introduction: Gender and aging', *Feminist Economics*, Vol. 11, No 2, pp. 3-5. (http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=17835173&site=ehost-live).
- Fornero, E., and Monticone, C. (2010), 'Women and pensions: Effects of pension reforms on womens retirement security', in *Women's work and pensions: What is good, what is the best? — Designing gender-sensitive arrangements*, edited by B. Marin and E. Zólyomi, Ashgate Publishing Ltd., Surrey, pp. 77-96.
- Foster, L. and Walker, A. (2013). 'Gender and active ageing in Europe', *European Journal of Ageing*, Vol. 10, No 1, pp. 3-10 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10433-013-0261-0).
- Foster, L. (2014), 'Women's pensions in the European Union and the current economic crisis', *Policy & Politics,* Vol. 42, No 4, pp. 565-580 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1332/030557312x655774).
- Fraser, N. (1997), 'Chapter 2: After the family wage A postindustrial thought experiment', *Justice interruptus: Critical reflections on the 'postsocialist' condition*, by Fraser, N., Routledge, New York, pp. 41-66.
- Frericks, P., and Maier, R. M. (2008), 'Pension norms and pension reforms in Europe the effects on gender pension gaps', *Community, Work & Family*, Vol. 11, No 3, pp. 253-271 (http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/13668800802133651).
- Frericks, P., Maier, R. and de Graaf, W. (2006), 'Shifting the pension mix: Consequences for Dutch and Danish women', *Social Policy & Administration*, Vol. 40, No 5, pp. 475-492 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9515.2006.00500.x).
- Frericks, P., Maier, R. and de Graaf, W. (2007a), 'European pension reforms: individualization, privatization and gender pension gaps', *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State and Society,* Vol. 14, No 2, pp. 212-237 (http://muse.jhu.edu/journals/sop/summary/v014/14.2frericks.html).
- Frericks, P., Maier, R. and de Graaf, W. (2007b), 'Male norms and female adjustments: The influence of care credits on gender pension gaps in France and Europe', *European Societies*, Vol. 10, No 1, pp. 97-119 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14616690701348810).
- Gangl, M. and Ziefle, A. (2009), 'Motherhood, labor force behavior, and women's careers: an empirical assessment of the wage penalty for motherhood in Britain, Germany and the United States', *Demography*, Vol. 46, No 2, pp. 431-369 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/dem.0.0056).
- Geissel, B. (2013), 'Germany: Successful Quota Rules in a Gendered Society', Breaking Male Dominance in Old Democracies, edited by D. Dahlerup and Leyenaar, pp. 197–218, University Press, Oxford.

- Ginn, J. (2003), Gender, pensions and the lifecourse: How pensions need to adapt to changing family forms, The Policy Press, Bristol.
- Ginn, J. (2004), 'European Pension Privatisation: Taking Account of Gender', *Social Policy and Society*, Vol. 3, No 2, pp. 123-134 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1474746403001581).
- Heyes, A. (2005), 'The economics of vocation or 'why is a badly paid nurse a good nurse'?', *Journal of Health Economics*, Vol. 24, No 3, pp. 561-569 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2004.09.002).
- Himmelweit, S. (2007), 'The prospects for caring: economic theory and policy analysis', *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, Vol. 31, pp. 581-599 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cje/bem011).
- Johnson, R. W., Sambamoorthi, U. and Crystal, S. (1999), 'Gender Differences in Pension Wealth: Estimates Using Provider Data', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 39, No 3, pp. 320-333 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ger-ont/39.3.320).
- Lombardo, E., and Meier, P. (2008), 'Framing Gender Equality in the European Union Political Discourse', *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State and Society*, Vol. 15, No 1, pp. 101-129 (http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/sp/jxn001).
- Meier, P., and Lombardo, E. (2008), 'Concepts of citizenship underlying EU gender equality policies', *Citizenship Studies*, Vol. 12, No 5, pp. 481-493 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13621020802337899).
- Paxton, P., Kunovich, S., and Hughes, M. M. (2007), 'Gender in Politics', *Annual Review of Sociology*, Vol. 33, pp. 271-284 (http://dx.doi.org/10.146/annurev.soc.33.040406.121651).
- Price, D. (2007), 'Closing the gender gap in retirement income: What difference will recent UK pension reforms make?, *Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 36, No 4, pp. 561-583 (http://journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0047279407001183).
- Rögnvaldsdóttir, S. and Pétursdóttir, G. M. (2012), 'Will you still need me, will you still feed me? Old-age pensions in Iceland from a gender perspective', *Icelandic Review of Politics and Administration*, Vol. 8, No 2, pp. 469-490 (http://skemman.is/stream/get/1946/14868/34897/1/a.2012.8.2.14.pdf).
- Sigle-Rushton, W. and Waldfogel, J. (2007), 'Motherhood and women's earnings in anglo american, continental European, and Nordic countries', *Feminist Economics*, Vol. 13, No 2, pp. 55-91 (http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/13545700601184849).
- Sundén, A. (2010), 'A discussion of retirement income security for men and women', in *Women's work and pensions: What is good, what is the best? Designing gender-sensitive arrangements*, edited by B. Marin and E. Zólyomi, Ashgate Publishing Ltd., Surrey, pp. 59-76.

Women Against Violence Europe (WAVE) (2009), 'The poverty risks of women affected by violence and their


children: Report on the socioeconomic situation in Austria', report produced in the context of the PRO-GRESS programme GenderWorks: Mainstreaming and Communicating Gender Equality in Anti-Poverty and Social Exclusion Strategies, funded by the European Commission, WAVE – Women Against Violence Europe, Vienna (http://www.wavenetwork.org/sites/default/files/wave_povertyreport_0.pdf).

Zaidi, A., Gasior, K., & Zólyomi, E. (2010), 'Poverty amongst older women and pensions policy in the European Union" in *Women's work and pensions: What is good, what is the best? — Designing gender-sensitive arrangements*, edited by B. Marin and E. Zólyomi, Ashgate Publishing Ltd., Surrey, pp. 77-96.

HOW TO OBTAIN EU PUBLICATIONS

Free publications:

- one copy: via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu);
- more than one copy or posters/maps: from the European Union's representations (http://ec.europa.eu/represent_en.htm); from the delegations in non-EU countries (http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/index_en.htm); by contacting the Europe Direct service (http://europa.eu/europedirect/index_en.htm) or calling 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (freephone number from anywhere in the EU) (*).

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

Priced publications:

.

via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu).

Priced subscriptions:

via one of the sales agents of the Publications Office of the European Union (http://publications.europa.eu/others/agents/index_en.htm).



http://eige.europa.eu



ISBN 978-92-9218-643-2

MH-04-15-087-EN-N